Agenda - Reform Bill Committee

Meeting Venue: For further information contact:
Committee Room 1, Senedd Helen Finlayson

Meeting date: Thursday 9 November Committee Clerk

2023 0300 200 6565

Meeting time: 09.30 SeneddReform@senedd.wales

Private pre-meeting (09.15-09.30)

Introductions, apologies, substitutions, and declarations of

interest
(09.30)

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Evidence session with

electoral systems academics
(09.30-10.30) (Pages 1 - 43)
Professor Alistair Clark, Professor of Political Science, Newcastle University

Dr Jac Larner, Lecturer in Politics, Cardiff University

Supporting documents
Paper 1 Written evidence: Professor Alistair Clark
Paper 2 Written evidence: Dr Jac Larner

Research Brief

Break (10.30 - 10.45)

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Evidence session with

electoral reform organisations
(10.45-11.45)
(Pages 44 - 50)

’(”// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament



Jess Blair, Electoral Reform Society Cymru

Alberto Smith, Make Votes Matter

Supporting document

Paper 3 Written evidence: Electoral Reform Society Cymru

Lunch (11.45 - 12.45)

4 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Evidence session on

the electoral and boundary reform experience in Scotland
(12.45-13.45) (Pages 51 - 61)
Professor Ailsa Henderson, Chair, Boundaries Scotland

Malcolm Burr, Convener, Electoral Management Board for Scotland

Supporting documents
Paper 4 Written evidence: Boundaries Scotland

Paper 5 Written evidence: Electoral Management Board for Scotland

Break (13.45 - 14.00)

5 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Evidence session with
the Welsh Language Commissioner
(14.00-14.30) (Pages 62 - 82)
Efa Gruffudd Jones, Welsh Language Commissioner

Lowri Williams, Strategic Director, Office of the Welsh Language

Commissioner

Supporting documents
Paper 6 Written evidence: Welsh Language Commissioner

Research Brief



6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

Papers to Note
(14.30)

Response from the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution
regarding the anticipated gender quotas Bill - 20 October 2023
(Page 83)

Letter to the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution regarding the
anticipated gender quotas Bill - 25 October 2023

(Pages 84 - 85)
Response from the Deputy Minister for Social Partnership regarding the
anticipated gender quotas Bill - 1 November 2023

(Pages 86 - 88)
Letter from the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee to the
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution regarding the Senedd
Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill - 31 October 2023

(Pages 89 - 91)
Response from the former Chair of the Special Purpose Committee on Senedd
Reform - 2 November 2023

(Pages 92 - 98)

Motion under Standing Order 17.42 (ix) to resolve to exclude the

public for the remainder of the meeting
(14.30)

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Consideration of

evidence
(14.30-14.45)



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 1| Paper 1

Agenda ltem 2

Prof. Alistair Clark,
Professor of Political Science,
Newcastle University,

24 October 2023

Written Evidence to the Senedd Reform Bill Committee Stage 1 Inquiry into the Senedd Cymru
(Members and Elections) Bill 2023

Introduction
1. My expertise is in electoral systems, integrity and administration, with numerous published

research articles and reports on these themes. | write in a personal capacity
(http://www.ncl.ac.uk/gps/staff/profile/alistairclark.html#background).

Summary

2. The Bill represents an important set of proposals to improve the capacity of the Senedd by
expanding its size from 60 to 96. This overall change and intent is welcome and necessary. Most of the
Bill's contents are reasonable, and the intention to carry over or develop existing structures (i.e. the
combining of constituencies to create the initial 16 constituencies; the use of D’Hondt carried over
from the existing regional lists etc) would seem to ensure practice evolves along pre-existing lines
where possible. For the most part, this seems a sensible approach.

3. There are however some issues with the Bill that need further scrutiny, discussion or clarity from
the Welsh government. This written evidence expands on those points under four headings: electoral
system; institutional consequences; candidacy and residency; and Boundary Reviews.

Electoral System

4. Electoral systems can be judged by a number of indicators. There are inevitable, often political,
trade-offs between them inherent in any system chosen. One account from the Electoral Reform
Society highlights six indicators that might be considered to arrive at an overall assessment.! These
are:

*  Proportionality;

* Stable government;

* Voter choice;

* Link between MPs and geographical constituencies;
* Diversity beyond party affiliation;

* Encourages participation.

5. A big question about the introduction of the new proportional representation system would be how
more proportional outcomes would impact the type of government formed post-election. A majority
would seem to require 49 seats. On a very rough assessment of how current results might play out,
this would seem difficult to achieve under the new system for a single party. The major parties —

! Electoral Reform Society (2007) Britain’s Experience of Electoral Systems, London: ERS.

1
Pack Page 1



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 1| Paper 1

Labour, Conservatives and Plaid Cymru —would still dominate the party system. Smaller parties would
find it difficult to be elected at their current level of performance given how the electoral system’s
informal thresholds are likely to work. If this were the case with smaller parties in future elections, the
larger parties may pick up a handful of additional seats.

6. Such an outcome would likely mean either some form of coalition, or the largest party governing as
a minority administration. Neither are necessarily unstable forms of government and Wales has
experience with both. Stability would depend on a variety of factors, such as cross-party consensus,
internal party divisions within government and so on.

7. Electoral systems can be thought of by the extent to which they empower either voters or political
parties. On the one hand, voter choice means voters being able to choose between candidates even
within political parties where they offer lists or teams of candidates. A system such as the single
transferable vote (STV), for example, allows voters to have such choice between candidates and
parties where parties offer more than one person for election. While it may represent a more limited
choice, a system like the additional member system (AMS) currently used to elect the Senedd, still
allows voters the opportunity to exercise choice beyond one party by choosing to vote for different
parties between the constituency and regional list system. Such voter choice potentially limits parties’
influence.

8. By contrast, parties’ powers are enhanced where voters do not have the ability to choose between
the candidates that parties offer to the electorate. This is typically the case where political parties
offer closed lists to voters. Under closed list PR, electors cannot choose between party candidates;
they must accept the list ranking that parties offer them. Voters which might prefer a different
candidate or ranking therefore cannot exercise their choice as they wish. This potentially also impacts
on issues around diversity, and unless parties prioritise and rank candidates highly in relation to
characteristics such as sex and ethnicity, such candidates are unlikely to be elected. | discuss this
further below.

9. The choice of closed list proportional representation as the new electoral system for the Senedd,
would seem to place the power over which candidates are eventually elected firmly in the hands of
political parties. At a time where there is widespread scepticism about the role of political parties, this
seems unfortunate.

10. The Expert Committee on Electoral Reform recommended the Single Transferable Vote (STV) to
ensure that there was a geographical link between constituencies and members, while still producing
more proportional results.2 My research into STV in Scottish local elections has confirmed these ideas
are applicable to the use of the STV on the British mainland, while also demonstrating that voters have
little problem in adapting to STV as an electoral system.® While | appreciate that this might be unlikely,
and there has already been lengthy consideration of electoral systems, | would nevertheless
recommend reconsideration of STV.

11. If a proportional list system is deemed necessary, | would recommend that some level of voter
choice be incorporated into it and an open list proportional representation (OLPR) system be developed
instead. This would allow political parties to present the lists they have selected, but voters to choose

2 https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s104463/Committee%20report%20-
%20Summary%200f%20recommendations.pdf [23/10/23].

3 Clark, A. (2021) ‘The Effects of Electoral Reform on Party Campaigns, Voters and Party Systems at the Local
Level: From Single Member Plurality to the Single Transferable Vote in Scotland’, Local Government Studies,
47, (1), pp79-99; Clark, A. (2013) ‘Second Time Lucky? The Continuing Adaptation of Parties and Voters to the
Single Transferable Vote in Scotland’, Representation, 49, (1), pp55-68.

2
Pack Page 2



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 1| Paper 1

between particular candidates within those lists. There are numerous variations of OLPR, but it is used
in countries such as the Netherlands, Norway and Denmark. The democracy assistance organisation
International IDEA have produced a useful overview.?

12. There seems an inconsistency between the Bill allowing parties to present lists of up to eight
candidates (Section 7), when only six members will be elected from the 16 constituencies. Those at
the bottom of party lists were already unlikely to be elected; for those in seventh and eight place it
would seem an impossibility. Were an open list system introduced, this provision for lists of eight
could remain but instead of being an inconsistency, it could be justified by giving voters increased
choice.

13. Political parties should be encouraged to prioritise diversity of candidacy in choosing their lists.
This might be done formally, by requiring parties, as part of this legislation, to have either a quota for
particular characteristics, or to ‘zip’ their candidate lists, alternating between candidate sex
(male/female/male/female or vice versa). Political science evidence suggests that quotas are the most
likely to be successful to improving descriptive representation and contribute to candidates with
certain characteristics being elected.® Procedures such as ‘zipping’ have also had some success. It was
reported that the Bill might contain measures to permit ‘zipping’, but these do not seem to have made
it through to the version published for Stage 1 Scrutiny.®

14. The alternative to requiring this in legislation would be to provide some sort of informal
encouragement or incentive for parties to do so. Another option would be to develop programmes to
encourage potential candidates to come forward, preferably with cross-party support.

15. It is correct that the Bill limits the number of lists that candidates can stand on, to prevent
unsuccessful candidates from ‘venue shopping’. | support this measure.

16. Research has suggested that there can often be links between ‘independent’ candidates and party
lists, some ‘independents’ choosing that label for electoral reasons, knowing that they would be
unlikely to be elected if they stood for a party they were nevertheless close to.” It is correct therefore
that there are limits on the ability of independent candidates to also stand on a party list.

17. With independent candidates, there is a need to be sure that such restrictions do not limit ballot
access unnecessarily however. Independent candidates are already likely to face a high bar to election,
even under a more proportional system. Such electoral systems have informal thresholds which
require candidates to achieve more than a certain proportion of the vote before they are elected. This
largely depends on issues like turnout on polling day and is difficult to predict precisely. Nonetheless,
an independent candidate is likely to need at least approximately 10-12% to be elected to a list. It is
therefore unlikely that many such candidates will be elected.

Institutional Consequences

18. The return to four-year terms represents an accountability check on executive power. While five-
year terms were not necessarily problematic, they were nevertheless on the long side for voters being
able to express their views. A shorter term allows for greater accountability and provides an important

4 https://www.idea.int/sites/default/files/publications/open-list-proportional-representation.pdf [23/10/23].
5 For example: Clayton, A. (2021) How Do Electoral Gender Quotas Affect Policy? Annual Review of Political
Science 2021 24:1, 235-252.

5 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-politics-61392204 [23/10/23].

7 Copus, C., Clark, A., Reynaert, H. and Steyvers, K. (2009) ‘Minor Party and Independent Politics Beyond the
Mainstream: Fluctuating Fortunes but a Permanent Presence’, Parliamentary Affairs, 62, (1), pp4-18.

3
Pack Page 3



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 1| Paper 1

imperative for governments to be responsive and implement public policy commitments quickly and
effectively. | support this change.

19. Given the large increase in size that the Bill proposes for the Senedd, the addition of a further
Deputy Presiding Officer seems an entirely reasonable reform. This can be justified by the need to
provide capacity to run parliamentary business. Both the House of Commons and the Scottish
parliament operate with systems of Deputy Presiding Officers/Speakers. | support this change.

20. The increase in size of the Senedd to 96 indicates providing additional capacity to deal with an
expanded policy agenda given the increased powers the Senedd has accrued over time. Under such
circumstances, it seems reasonable for the Welsh government to seek to increase the number of
ministers. The increase from 12 to 17 would also seem reasonable.

21. Adding the potential for the Welsh government to appoint two further ministers by regulations
(affirmative procedure) seems inconsistent with the need to pass primary legislation for the initial
increase to 17. That any such further change would be irreversible seems potentially problematic,
tying the hands of any future FM as to the shape of their government. The Welsh government should
be pressed to clarify and detail the circumstances under which it would seek to appoint any additional
ministers.

22. The requirement in Section 7 to initiate a Committee to examine possible job-sharing seems
reasonable. There are numerous issues that would need to be resolved in this regard, such as the
balance of responsibilities within any such job-share and the circumstances under which any job share
was permissible. The Committee should examine these issues in detail.

23. At least two specific issues seem to be relevant to job-sharing where the role involved is Member
of the Senedd (something which by definition also impacts the other roles specified in the Bill). Firstly,
there is an obvious potential democratic conflict with this role being elected. To what extent will the
proposal to job-share be highlighted to voters in an election campaign so that voters can make an
informed choice? This interacts directly with the issues around closed lists noted above. What would
it mean for parties to present lists, when one or more of their candidates was proposing to job share?
Yet it would seem fundamental to the democratic choice put before voters that they know how
candidates are proposing to perform their role if elected.

24. Secondly, might there be a link to job-sharing and the potential for MS’s to have second jobs or
hold other elected positions, such as councillors? This may seem to apply less with most of the roles,
such as Ministers, Presiding and Deputy Presiding Officers set out in the legislation. It would however
seem to apply with MS’s, and become an area of potential future controversy.

25. Section 19’s intention to establish a Committee to review the operation of the act in the aftermath
of the 2026 election seems a good idea. | would suggest that this is established as a formal post-
legislative scrutiny process.

26. However, Section 19 seems to go considerably beyond the narrow purpose of reviewing the Act.
Section 19, clause ii’s point about any review covering ‘the extent to which the elements of a healthy
democracy are present in Wales’ is an extremely wide question, which almost inevitably contains
many aspects not in this Bill. While a wider democracy review or audit would certainly be useful and
desirable, this can be achieved in a number of other ways. | would recommend removal of this specific
point from the Bill. This would ensure that the Act’s operation is central to any inquiry, and that the
review does not get diverted into other matters.

Candidacy and Residency

4
Pack Page 4



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 1| Paper 1

27. The question about residency requirements can, to a large part, be linked to the choice of electoral
system. List proportional representation tends to de-emphasise local geographical links. An
alternative system to proportional representation such as STV has, to a larger extent, a degree of
localism built into it, while also providing a level of proportionality to results.

28. The recent history of electoral law in Wales has been towards opening and more permissive ballot
access. For example, the franchise has been extended to residents, regardless of nationality in the
Senedd and Elections (Wales) Act 2020 and the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021.
While not unreasonable, the proposal in the current Bill to restrict candidacy and membership to those
registered to vote in Wales could potentially be presented as restricting access to the ballot. The key
theme in both those previous Acts and the current Bill being scrutinised would seem to be the
importance of residency in the exercise of electoral rights.

29. Whether this restriction would apply to a large number of candidates is probably unlikely, since
political and campaign discourse highlighting their registration status would almost inevitably provide
a deterrent to most candidates except the most determined or high profile. Such candidates would
also, presumably, be unable to vote for themselves.

Boundary Reviews

30. The various measures contained in the Bill relating to Boundary Reviews, renaming the Local
Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales as the Democracy and Boundary Commission Cymru,
and clarifying its procedures seem reasonable enough. My only concern is that ‘Democracy
Commission’ is reminiscent of, and is inevitably likely to be confused with, the Electoral Commission.
Unless the intention is to signal some wider purpose, it might be simpler and clearer just to rename it
the Boundary Commission Cymru.

5
Pack Page 5



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Written Evidence Submission to Reform Bill
Committee
Dr Jac M. Larner

Wales Governance Centre, School of Law and Politics,
Cardiftf University

October 30, 2023

1 Introduction

1.1 Cardiff University’s Wales Governance Centre has carried out wide-ranging research into the topic
of public attitudes and elections in Wales for over two decades. In this written submission I focus
on two points highlighted in the general call for evidence relating to proposed changes in the Senedd

Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill. These are:

e The increase in the size of the Senedd to 96 Members.

e Changing the Senedd’s electoral system so that all Members are elected via closed list propor-

tional representation, with votes translated into seats via the D’Hondt formula.

2 Increasing the size of the Senedd to 96 members

2.1. Evidence provided in this section is primarily taken from a 2023 research article published in
Parliamentary Affairs by Dr James D. Griffiths (University of Manchester), Dr Ed Gareth Poole,
Prof. Richard Wyn Jones, and myself (Cardiff University). Please see references section for the full

citation.

2.2. As part of the 2021 Welsh Election Study (Wyn Jones et al., 2022) we explored public attitudes
towards plans to expand the Senedd. We did this using novel survey experiment fielded between 18
March and 6 April 2022 on a representative sample of 2,988 voting age adults. Respondents were

randomly split into five groups and shown one of four arguments for increasing the size of the Senedd

1
Pack Page 6



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Written Evidence Submission to Reform Bill Committee Jac M. Larner
Group \ Wording
Control [No prompt]
Greater accountability One argument for doing so is that it will increase the ability of the

Senedd to hold the Welsh Government to account for its decisions
Compensate for MP re- | One argument for doing so is that it will compensate for the re-

duction duction in the number of MPs from Wales that will occur after the
next UK General Election
Needed for new powers One argument for doing so is that the Senedd now has tax and

major legislative powers and so needs an increased membership
Parity with Scotland and | One argument for doing so is that the Senedd is currently much
Northern Ireland smaller than the Scottish Parliament and Northern Irish Assembly
and should be of roughly equal size

Table 2.1: Survey experiment wording.

(the fifth ‘control’ group was not shown any argument). These arguments are displayed in Table 2.1.

2.3. Respondents were then asked, ‘To what extent do you agree that the number of Senedd Members
should be increased?’ with responses measured on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from strongly agree

to strongly disagree. Figure 2.1 displays the responses.

2.4. A clear plurality of the Welsh electorate opposes increasing the number of Senedd members and
none of the arguments seriously challenge this generalised picture of hostility. That said, there are sig-
nificant differences in attitudes across Welsh society that are worthy of note. Groups most positively
inclined to support the development of the Welsh polity are also the most positive about expanding
the size of the Senedd. Voters who identify as Welsh, are pro-autonomy, support Plaid Cymru, and
skew younger—groups among which there tends to be considerable overlap—support an expanded

Senedd.

2.5. It is important to caveat these stark findings by saying that politicians — even democratically
elected ones — are not popular. This is not a situation that is unique to Wales (e.g, see Stoker, 2006;
Hay and Stoker, 2009; Flinders, 2012; Hatier, 2012; Wright, 2013). Indeed, when previous polls have
asked about attitudes towards the numbers of politicians within a legislature the modal response is
in favour of a reduction (for example, similar numbers across the UK oppose any further increase to
the House of Lords (Yougov, 2017)). Beyond the occasional opinion poll, our research was unable
to identify any scholarly literature that addresses public attitudes towards increasing the size of any

legislature. Therefore, we cannot say with any level of certainty the extent to which these results

Pack Page 7



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Written Evidence Submission to Reform Bill Committee Jac M. Larner
Control Accountability MP reduction
607 525
49.0 49.3
50
40 |
29.1
271
30 25.4
220 23.6 224

20 -

10
S o
S Agree Neither Disagree Agree Neither Disagree Agree Neither Disagree
c
©
5 More powers Scotland/NI
o

60

51.4
50 - 43.6
40 |
30.8

30 25.7 259 25.6

20

10

o
Agree Neither Disagree Agree Neither Disagree

Figure 2.1: Distribution of outcome variable responses Control (N: 493), Accountability (N: 537), MP reduction
(N: 552), More powers (N: 536), Scotland /NI (N: 504)

Alt-text: Bar charts showing the distribution of survey responses to question on increasing number of Senedd
members, separated by treatment group. The Data shows a plurality of respondents in every treatment group
disagree with increasing the number of members.

reflect unique hostility to the proposed Senedd expansion or wider antipathy to politicians.

3 Change to the Senedd’s Electoral system

3.1. Proportionality: To date, work on electoral reform in Wales has highlighted the importance
of proportionality of election outcomes (Expert Panel, 2017, p.97, p.129-149; Committee on Senedd
Electoral Reforms, 2020, p.42; Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform, p.26). The selection
of seat allocation method will have a significant and substantial impact on the proportionality of
electoral outcomes. An example is provided in Table 3.1 using real electoral data combining regional

list vote shares from two adjacent Welsh constituencies.

3.2. The table illustrates the difference between the two allocation methods considered by the Commit-
tee on Senedd Electoral Reforms: Sainte-Lagiie and D’Hondt (2020,2022). The two methods produce
different effective thresholds for parties: D’Hondt favours large parties, Sainte-Lagiie favours smaller

parties.

Pack Page 8



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Written Evidence Submission to Reform Bill Committee Jac M. Larner

Party Vote Share Sainte-Lagiie Allocation D’Hondt Allocation

31% 2
14%
30%
8%
5%
8%
4%

QEHEHOQW >
cCooo N
CoOoOo N~ W

Table 3.1: Example of seat allocation under different systems using real constituency level data.

3.3. The use of D’Hondt in constituencies with a magnitude of six will introduce a relatively high
effective electoral threshold (especially in ’strong’ party systems). For example, the 2021 Senedd elec-
tion results modelled across 16 hypothetical constituencies suggests that there would have been an
effective electoral threshold of 12% in 12 of the 16 constituencies. Unless voting behaviour were to
shift dramatically in light of the new electoral system it remains unlikely that ’smaller’ parties would

secure representation in the Senedd.

3.4. Sainte-Lagiie is also not without potential issues. The inclusion of smaller parties does not nec-
essarily entail a more proportional electoral outcome. As the example illustrates it also introduces
inequalities in electoral thresholds with Party A winning one seat for every 15.5% of votes they re-
ceived, compared to 7% for Party B. However, previous modelling by the Expert Panel (2017) has
demonstrated that when results are aggregated, Sainte-Lagiie would produce the more proportional

election outcomes.

3.5. Familiarity with current electoral system: The logic provided by the Committee on Senedd
Electoral Reforms for its choice of D’Hondt was related to voter familiarity: “It was noted that this
is the formula currently used for allocating regional seats to parties, and therefore has some familiar-
ity.” (2022, p.37). It is questionable whether citizens have any familiarity with the specific system
used. Survey evidence measuring public knowledge of electoral procedures in Wales is limited, but the
findings all suggest that there is a lack of understanding of the current mixed-member proportional
system. For example, since the very first elections to the (then) National Assembly for Wales a large
proportions of voters, sometimes majorities, have believed that the two votes represented a first and

second preference or did not understand how vote shares in the list ballot translated into seats (Larner,

Pack Page 9



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Written Evidence Submission to Reform Bill Committee Jac M. Larner

2020, p. 7).

3.6. There is no survey data directly measuring knowledge of the electoral system since 2016 however.
It may be the case that knowledge of the method of seat allocation has increased substantially over
this period. However, other areas of political knowledge over policy responsibility and knowledge of

political actors in Wales has not measurably increased over this period (Wyn Jones et al., 2022).

Pack Page 10



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Written Evidence Submission to Reform Bill Committee Jac M. Larner

4 References
Committee on Senedd Electoral Reforms (2020). ’Senedd reform: the next steps’, September 2020.

https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-1d13452 /cr-1d13452%20-e.pdf

Expert Panel (2017) ’A Parliament that works for Wales: Report of the Expert Panel on Assembly
Electoral Reform’, November 2017. https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesx]2/a-parliament-that-works-

for-wales.pdf

Flinders, M. (2012) ‘The demonisation of politicians: Moral panics, folk devils and MPs’ expenses’,

Contemporary Politics, 18, 1-17.
Griffiths, J. D., Wyn Jones, R., Poole, E. G. & Larner, J. M. (2023) 'Making the Case for More
Politicians: A Survey Experiment to Investigate Public Attitudes to an Expanded Welsh Parliament’,

Parliamentary Affairs, gsad004, https://doi.org/10.1093 /pa/gsad004

Hatier, C. (2012) “Them’ and ‘Us’: Demonising Politicians by Moral Double Standards’, Contempo-
rary Politics, 18, 467-480.

Hay, C. and Stoker, G. (2009) ‘Revitalising Politics: Have We Lost the Plot?’, Representation, 45,
225-236.

Larner, J. M. (2020) 'The multilevel voter: Identity, territory and electoral behaviour’. PhD Thesis,

Cardiff University. https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/id /eprint /133816

Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform (2022). 'Reforming our Senedd: A stronger voice for

the people of Wales’. May 2022, https://senedd.wales/media/5mtaloyk/cr-1d15130-e.pdf

Stoker, G. (2006) ‘Politics in Mass Democracies: Destined to Disappoint?’, Representation, 42,
181-194.

Wright, T. (2013) ‘What is it About Politicians?’, The Political Quarterly, 84, 448-453.

Pack Page 11


https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld13452/cr-ld13452%20-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesxl2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesxl2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1093/pa/gsad004
https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/id/eprint/133816
https://senedd.wales/media/5mta1oyk/cr-ld15130-e.pdf

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Written Evidence Submission to Reform Bill Committee Jac M. Larner

Wyn Jones, R., Larner, J., Poole, E. Gareth, Wincott, D., Surridge, P. (2023). Welsh Election Study,
2021. [data collection]. UK Data Service. SN: 9063, DOI: http://doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-9063-1

YouGov (2017). 'New members of the House of Lords could have a 15 year time limit, according to mea-
sures put forward by a committee to reduce the size of the chamber, which currently has 800 members.
Do you think a time limit is a good or bad idea?’ 18 October 2017, https://yougov.co.uk/topics/politics/survey-

results/daily/2017/10/18/8135¢/2

Pack Page 12


http://doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-9063-1
https://yougov.co.uk/topics/politics/survey-results/daily/2017/10/18/8135e/2
https://yougov.co.uk/topics/politics/survey-results/daily/2017/10/18/8135e/2

By virtue of paragraph(s) iv of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 13



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 3| Paper3

Agenda Item 3

Electoral
Reform
Soclety

Cymru
Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill written evidence
October 2023
ERS Cymru

ERS Cymru welcomes the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill. We have long
supported and campaigned on the case for increasing the size of the Senedd along with
broader reform of the Senedd’s electoral arrangements and are delighted to see proposals
being brought forward for 96 members within this legislation. While we are supportive of the
measures to increase the capacity of the Senedd we have some concerns about the specific
voting system chosen, which we detail below.

Increase in the size of the Senedd

It has been nearly a decade since the publication of our ‘Size Matters’ report calling for an
increase in the number of Senedd members," and nearly two decades since the work of the
Richard Commission recommended that by 2011 the ‘National Assembly for Wales should
increase in size from 60 to 80 members’.2 Several committees and, most notably, the Expert
Panel on Assembly Electoral Reform have come to a similar conclusion since then.® During
this time further powers have been devolved to Wales, including law making powers, and
thus the Senedd has taken on greater responsibilities and had its scrutiny capacity stretched
even further. The increase in the number of Members of the Senedd has been long overdue
and we welcome the provisions in this Bill to rectify this under-resourcing and realise a
Welsh Parliament with sufficient capacity to do its job.

Both the Expert Panel report and the Committee of Senedd Reform recommended
increasing the size of the Senedd to between 80 and 90 members, with the Expert Panel
highlighting that a move to the upper end of this range would provide the most benefits and
allow a level of future-proofing of capacity. * 5

Since these two reports were published in 2017 and 2020 respectively, the political
landscape in Wales has changed considerably with Brexit, the Covid-19 pandemic and the
UK parliamentary boundary review reducing the number of Welsh MPs from 40 to 32. Extra
responsibilities in devolved areas, which were previously covered by EU law, have added to
the workload of the Senedd and as such the Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform

' https://www.electoral-reform.org.uk/latest-news-and-research/publications/size-matters/
2 https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn03018/

3 https://senedd.wales/media/egbesxI|2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf

4 https://senedd.wales/media/egbesx|2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf

5 https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-Id13452/cr-Id13452%20-e.pdf

Pack Page 44 1


https://www.electoral-reform.org.uk/latest-news-and-research/publications/size-matters/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn03018/
https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesxl2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesxl2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld13452/cr-ld13452%20-e.pdf

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 3 | Paper 3

recommended an increase in MSs beyond 90.6 We agree that 96 members is an appropriate
number to both allow better scrutiny of current legislation and to future proof the parliament
for further devolution of powers down the line. This also brings the Senedd more in line with
other devolved parliaments, still significantly smaller than the Scottish Parliament and only
slightly larger than Stormont.

Voting System

While we agree that a new voting system is needed to elect a larger Senedd, we have
concerns about the closed list proportional representation (PR) system included in this
legislation.

The Bill's explanatory memorandum recognises that a closed list PR electoral system
reduces voter choice and uses it as part of the rationale for the introduction of a residency
requirement for candidates, stating “if an elector supports a party’s list except for a candidate
who they believe has no residency in Wales, they must either not vote for that party or be

unable to express their objections”.”

This dilemma is not unique to the issue of candidate residency, as there are endless reasons
why an elector may not support the candidate at the top of a given party’s list but wish to
support one or more of the candidates further down the list with their vote, and provides one
of the arguments as to why a closed list PR electoral system is not an appropriate electoral
system for Senedd elections.

Research by LSE in 2013 showed that closed list systems can lead to voters selecting which
party to vote for based solely on single, often divisive, issues. This was due to the overall
party line on a topic being broadly applied to everyone standing under that list and the lack
of consideration for individual candidate viewpoints, which may vary even within a specific
party.®

We would advocate for the Single Transferable Vote (STV) to be the Senedd’s new electoral
system, as did the Expert Panel in 2017, the Committee on Senedd Electoral Reform in
2020 and two members of the Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform in 2022.° 0. 11
An STV system would allow voters to not only select their preferred candidate, but also
provide as many alternative options, through ranking candidates, as they desire. It is also the
electoral system that has been selected for councils to choose to move to under the Local
Government and Elections (Wales) Act.'? Across the UK STV is also used for Scottish local
elections since 2007 and for local and parliamentary elections in Northern Ireland.

6 https://senedd.wales/media/5mta1oyk/cr-ld15130-e.pdf

7 https://senedd.wales/medialixjdywtx/pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf Paragraph 184, p53.
8 https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/62331/1/Hix_Open%20closed%20list 2016.pdf

9 https://senedd.wales/media/egbesxI|2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf

10 https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld13452/cr-1d13452%20-e.pdf

" https://senedd.wales/media/5mta1oyk/cr-ld15130-e.pdf

12 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/contents

Pack Page 45 2


https://senedd.wales/media/5mta1oyk/cr-ld15130-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/ixjdywtx/pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf
https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/62331/1/Hix_Open%20closed%20list_2016.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesxl2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld13452/cr-ld13452%20-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/5mta1oyk/cr-ld15130-e.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/contents

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 3 | Paper 3

Given the timescale of implementation for this Bill is tight, an alternative option would be to
look at the electoral system recommended by the Expert Panel in the event that STV was
not implemented, the flexible list system. 3

We would endorse the addition of an amendment to the legislation to allow for a flexible list.
This would entail allowing voters to vote for an individual candidate or a party, with individual
candidates only moving up a party’s list if they pass a certain threshold percentage of the
party’s votes in that constituency. This would improve voter choice, and give voters a
mechanism to effectively deselect a candidate at the top of the list if they believe they were
not doing a good job. Minimal amendments to the Bill as it stands could facilitate the change
to a flexible list voting system.

This flexible list approach is used widely in countries across Europe including Austria,
Belgium, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Indonesia, Norway, the Netherlands,
Slovakia, and Sweden.' There are also examples of countries who have abandoned closed
lists in favour of a flexible list approach. One such example is Sweden, which initially used a
closed list PR system and upgraded this with a move to a flexible list system in 1998.

The Expert Panel developed a system for flexible lists in Wales as part of their 2017 report.

“In terms of the second dimension, Flexible List systems use a wide variety of mechanisms.
The system we have developed uses flexible lists of the ‘threshold’ form. Under this system,
parties determine the order in which candidates’ names appear on the ballot paper. If no
candidate receives sufficient personal votes to meet a specified candidate threshold, the
party’s preferred order is the order in which candidates take up any seats won by the party. If
a candidate’s personal votes pass the threshold, she or he moves to the top of the list. If
several candidates pass the threshold, they are ordered by the number of votes they have
each received. For example, in Sweden, candidates receiving 5 per cent or more of the
votes received by the party list move to the top of the list. We have opted for this system
because it is simple and therefore readily understood by parties, candidates and voters.
While other forms of flexible lists have certain advantages, we do not think these outweigh
the value in the context of Assembly elections of the threshold system’s simplicity.”

A flexible list approach, as described by the Expert Panel, could alleviate some concerns
around the lack of voter choice under the current system proposed, while likely being
manageable in light of the tight timescales of the Bill.

Seat Allocation

The electoral formula stipulated in the Bill to allocate seats under a list PR electoral system
is the D’Hondt method. We have reservations around this as this method can result in less
proportional results than the Sainte-Lagué method which was recommended by the Expert
Panel."

13 https://senedd.wales/media/egbesx|2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf
4 https://www.santiagoolivella.info/pdfs/es2013.pdf
15 https://senedd.wales/media/egbesx|2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf

Pack Page 46 3


https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesxl2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf
https://www.santiagoolivella.info/pdfs/es2013.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesxl2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 3 | Paper 3

If a list PR approach continues (either flexible or closed), then as the Expert Panel
recommended, the Sainte-Lagué formula should be adopted to allocate seats on
proportionality grounds. The D’Hondt method usually produces less proportional results than
the Sainte-Lagué method due to the electoral formula normally favouring larger parties over
smaller parties. The Expert Panel found in its modelling work “that the D’Hondt electoral
formula generally produces outcomes which are less proportional than those using the
Sainte-Lagué formula, and sometimes less proportional than the current electoral system”
with two members of the Special Purpose Committee also initially preferring this formula.®

Constituency Boundaries

While we recognise the time limitations in getting this legislation enacted for the 2026
Senedd Elections we would like to note that it is a shame that there won’t be bespoke
Senedd constituencies at this time. Using the new UK parliamentary constituencies relies on
boundaries that operate for an entirely different political system, that are drawn based on
incomplete electoral rolls instead of actual population figures and are based on a different
franchise.

We also have concerns about the provisions to ensure the number of representatives per
constituency are equal due to the variance in constituency size and the number of voters
represented, which specifically is an issue in the case of Ynys Mon given its protected status
in the Westminster boundary review. As acknowledged in the explanatory memorandum of
the Bill this will mean that voters within that paired constituency are effectively over-
represented at the Senedd ™.

The pairing of the Westminster constituencies also doesn’t account for the different franchise
in Wales and how that might alter the electorate size across the constituencies. The
boundary review ahead of the 2030 Senedd elections should rectify this by establishing
bespoke Senedd constituencies with more balanced electorates based on the Welsh
franchise. However, the specification on the face of the Bill for 16 constituencies each
electing six members has the potential to be too rigid in terms of balancing the competing
interests of equal numbers of electors and respecting natural community boundaries in this
boundary review exercise.

In Europe, both Spain and Portugal use the closed list PR system for their parliamentary
elections. Spain has district magnitudes varying from 2 to 37 across its 50 multi-member
constituencies and Portugal has district magnitudes varying from 2 to 48 across its 22 multi-
member constituencies. In the UK, MEP elections used to be held using the closed list PR
system, these too had varying district magnitude with between 3 and 10 MEPs being elected
across the different nations and regions. Having equal district magnitudes, such as in this
Bill, is far from the norm as natural boundaries and communities rarely fall into such similarly
populated geographies.

In fact across all of the 20 EU member states who use any variation of the list PR electoral
system, only two countries, Croatia and Slovenia, use equal district magnitude across

16 https://senedd.wales/media/5Smtatoyk/cr-ld15130-e.pdf, p37.
7 https://senedd.wales/medialixjdywtx/pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf

Pack Page 47 4


https://senedd.wales/media/5mta1oyk/cr-ld15130-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/ixjdywtx/pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 3 | Paper 3

multiple constituencies. The result of this is that their electoral districts follow unnatural
boundaries, something which is a cause of contention at the moment in Croatia.'® Given this,
we believe that there is no need for the rigidity around the number of elected members per
constituency. This will only serve to constrain the boundary review due to take place
following the 2026 Senedd elections.

Job Sharing

The requirements in the Bill for the next Senedd to vote on a motion to establish a committee
to look into job sharing are welcome, but leave us yet again without an opportunity for the
benefits of job sharing to be realised in the next Senedd. The Expert Panel made
recommendations around the provision of job shares for MSs in 2017, and nearly a decade
later we will have made little practical progress on this issue.'® Both the Committee on
Senedd Reform and the Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform looked at job
sharing in varying depths but advised further consideration was needed. Job sharing for
cabinet members in principal councils already takes place and has been considered quite
successful over a number of years.

We have a number of concerns around the suggested method for any future discussion of
job sharing. The legislation as drafted only requires a motion to be tabled following the 2026
Senedd election to establish a committee. There is no guarantee that motion would even be
passed by the Senedd. There are also limited parameters in the legislation in terms of that
committee if it were to be established. While it will be required to report on job sharing and
temporary cover for if a member was unavailable, there is little to ensure that this work is
extensive. Likewise, while this legislation requires a report to be tabled and Welsh Ministers
to respond there is no guarantee these recommendations will be taken forward. We have
concerns that this amounts to a further kicking into the long grass in relation to an issue that
has already had substantial discussion within various Senedd committees and is supported
by a range of third sector organisations and academics.

Senedd Terms

We support the return to four year terms for the Senedd, meaning that the electorate are
able to choose their representatives more frequently. This return to pre-2011 term lengths is
logical given the issue of clashes with UK parliamentary elections has changed with the
introduction of the Dissolution and Calling of Parliament Bill, which repealed the Fixed-term
Parliaments Act 2011, removing the five-year interval between UK parliamentary elections.?
Alongside the provisions to change Senedd elections to every four years, the Welsh
Government should also consider making this change for local elections. The electorate
should have a frequent say in their representatives at a local level.

18 https://analihpd.hr/en/hrvatske-muke-po-izbornim-jedinicama-sto-ne-valja-s-vladinim-riesenjem/
19 https://senedd.wales/media/egbesx|2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf
20 hitps://bills.parliament.uk/publications/41467/documents/206

Pack Page 48 5


https://analihpd.hr/en/hrvatske-muke-po-izbornim-jedinicama-sto-ne-valja-s-vladinim-rjesenjem/
https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesxl2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf
https://bills.parliament.uk/publications/41467/documents/206

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 3 | Paper 3

Recall/ by-election mechanism

The provisions for filling vacant seats are consistent with the current rules regarding
vacancies when a member who has been elected on the regional list stands down, is
disqualified or dies, with in most cases the next person on the list taking that vacant seat.
This highlights the need for parties to stand a full list in each constituency if they can.

We are concerned by the lack of provision for a protocol around Members of the Senedd
who change parties or leave a party to become an independent member, as detailed in
paragraph 265 on page 73 of the Explanatory Memorandum.?' Given that under a closed list
PR system, voters will be voting specifically for a party not for individual candidates, this
brings into question the legitimacy of the mandate from their electors of any MS who
changes party during a Senedd term.

While up until 2016 this was a relatively rare occurrence, with only four MSs switching
parties across the first four Senedd terms (1999 - 2016), in the 5th Senedd term (2016 -
2021) nine MSs changed parties a total of 19 times. All of the MSs in question were elected
under the regional list, using the closed list PR system where voters cast their ballot for a
party not an individual candidate. Six of these nine MSs changed parties multiple times over
the course of the fifth Senedd, with then Member of the Senedd Mark Reckless changing
allegiance a total of four times. To date 87% of incidences of MSs changing parties during a
Senedd term have been those elected via the regional list (20 of the 23 incidences), with the
regional list currently only making up % of the membership of the Senedd. This situation
could get worse as we move to a 100% closed list PR system and leave voters represented
by a party that they didn’t vote for. A move to a flexible list system would give candidates
more of a personal mandate and alleviate this situation somewhat.

Post-2026 election review of the legislation

We were pleased to see a requirement in the Bill for the review of the legislation post-2026
Senedd elections. We believe this review should be as wide in scope as possible and we
welcome the parameters outlined in the Bill's Explanatory Memorandum.

We believe there could be a role for additional principles to be used to assess the
effectiveness of the changes brought forth in the Bill. For example, the Electoral
Administration and Reform White Paper set out six principles to guide the longer-term
programme of electoral reform; equity, accessibility, participation, improving citizen
experience, simplicity and integrity.?? Likewise, in 2017 the Expert Panel took a principles-
based approach to assessing different electoral systems in its work, these covered 10 areas;
government accountability and effectiveness, proportionality, member accountability,
equivalent status, diversity, voter choice, equivalent mandates, boundaries, simplicity, and
sustainability and adaptability.?

21 https://senedd.wales/media/ixjdywtx/pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf
22 hitps://www.gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
23 https://senedd.wales/media/egbesx|2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf

Pack Page 49 6


https://senedd.wales/media/ixjdywtx/pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/consultation-electoral-administration-and-reform-white-paper-html
https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesxl2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 3 | Paper 3

The Explanatory Memorandum details that the review should also take into account ‘the
extent to which the elements of a healthy democracy are present in Wales’.?* The recently
published Defining, Measuring, and Monitoring Democratic Health in Wales report from the
Wales Centre for Public Policy, commissioned by the Welsh Government, has outlined
various metrics that could be used to do this. This could be through the inclusion of Wales
specific data collection in international projects such as the Varieties of Democracy (V-Dem)
project or through data that is already collected on a Wales level such as metrics around the
Wellbeing of Wales in the National Survey for Wales or data from the Wales Election
Study.?® A comprehensive dataset covering all aspects of democratic health in Wales will
likely involve a combination of existing surveys/projects and the commissioning of new data
gathering.?® We would urge the Welsh Government to adopt the recommendations of this
report, and think about what additional data it could commission or produce around
elections. For example the Explanatory Memorandum for the Bill includes turnout as a
measure that could be considered. We would support the idea of this being disaggregated
by demographic data, as takes place in Iceland.?” We believe it is a sensible approach to
link this data with the review of Senedd electoral arrangements.

Additional comments

The successful implementation of this Bill relies on good communication. Good ballot design
and rigorous testing will be essential closer to the election as will wider engagement with the
public on these changes.

Continued electoral divergence between systems across the UK makes public engagement
and communication vital, especially when the changes in this Bill are considered alongside
those in the Elections and Elected Bodies (Wales) Bill. While electoral divergence should not
be a barrier to improving devolved elections and making changes to the Senedd, it does
heighten the need for effective communication to voters.

Joined up and clear communication of the changes coming in ahead of the 2026 Senedd
elections are crucial in ensuring that people are being brought along in that journey. This will
involve working across the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill, Elections and
Elected Bodies (Wales) Bill and the forthcoming bill on gender quotas to provide a clear
narrative that covers all of the changes to Welsh democracy for voters.

24 Paragraph 201 https://senedd.wales/media/ixjdywtx/pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf

25 https://lwww.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/Defining-Measuring-and-Monitoring-
Democratic-Health-in-Wales-REPORT .pdf

2 Ipid.

27 https://www.hagstofa.is/utgafur/frettasafn/kosningar/althingiskosningar-29-oktober-2016/

Pack Page 50 7


https://senedd.wales/media/ixjdywtx/pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/Defining-Measuring-and-Monitoring-Democratic-Health-in-Wales-REPORT.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/Defining-Measuring-and-Monitoring-Democratic-Health-in-Wales-REPORT.pdf
https://www.hagstofa.is/utgafur/frettasafn/kosningar/althingiskosningar-29-oktober-2016/

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 4 | Paper 4

Agenda ltem 4

Boundaries Scotland
Written submission on the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill

Introduction

1. Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Senedd Cymru (Members and
Elections) Bill. The following points highlight some issues that may be of interest to
the Committee. | would be very happy to answer further questions on these or other
aspects of the legislation when | give oral evidence to the Committee. It goes without
saying that these points reflect the experience and knowledge of Boundaries
Scotland in a Scottish context and we appreciate that the position in Wales may
need particular solutions.

Background

2. Boundaries Scotland is responsible for reviewing and making recommendations for:
constituencies and regions for the Scottish Parliament;

the number of councillors on each council in a local government area;

the number of wards for local government elections and their boundaries; and
the extent of council areas

3. Responsibility for reviewing Scottish Parliament boundaries was devolved to the
Local Government Boundary Commission for Scotland by the Scotland Act 2018
which amended the Scotland Act 1998. The Scottish Elections (Reform) Act 2020
renamed the Local Government Boundary Commission for Scotland “Boundaries
Scotland” reflecting that our focus was no longer simply reviews of local government
electoral arrangements and administrative boundaries.

4. Boundaries Scotland commenced its first review (and the second review since
establishment of the Scottish Parliament) of constituencies and regions for the
Scottish Parliament 1 September 2022 and will submit its report by 1 May 2025.

Resourcing

5. Boundaries Scotland has provision for a Chair, Deputy Chair and up to 4
Commissioners. Since 1973 there had always been a vacant Commissioner post and
it was only when responsibility for Scottish parliament reviews was devolved to us
that the additional capacity for a 4" Commissioner was utilised, in part to reflect the
increased workload but more importantly to ensure a wider breadth of experience
and knowledge amongst Commissioners and a move away from a focus solely on
local government.

6. More important to us than the number of Commissioners is ensuring the Secretariat
supporting Boundaries Scotland is adequately resourced. The nature and scale of
the work required in designing proposals, consulting effectively, analysing responses
and so on falls largely on the staff. In addition the Secretariat deals with the
challenges of sometimes overlapping reviews for local government, Scottish
Parliament and Westminster. Our staff are shared with the reserved body, the
Boundary Commission for Scotland, and we have been successful in ensuring
sufficient staffing and other resource to support the work of both Commissions.

Reviews

7. The proposed arrangements for conduct of reviews appear to mirror the Westminster
legislation closely. There are some aspects of this which may unnecessarily tie the
hands of the Welsh Commission:

Pack Page 51



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 4 | Paper 4

a. Parity
While the proposed 10% variation from parity offers more flexibility than
Westminster which has a 5% limit, it is worth noting that in Scotland neither
reviews of Scottish Parliament nor of local government electoral
arrangements specify a hard target. For reviews of electoral arrangements the
legislation specifies that the ratio of electors to councillor in wards across a
council area be “as nearly as may be, the same” . For Scottish parliament
constituencies the requirement is “The electorate of a constituency must be
as near the electoral quota as is practicable” . In both cases, other rules, such
as special geographical circumstances, allow a move away from strict parity.

The 5t Reviews of electoral arrangements, which reviewed the number of
councillors and ward boundaries in all 32 council areas in Scotland
recommended 351 wards. Of these 45 wards were over 10% based on the
existing electorate but the five-year forecasts predicted only 22 would become
over 10% in that period. These were mainly rural wards but also included
some city wards. Flexibility was shown in some areas to maintain local ties
and minimise change. The 5" Reviews were submitted to Scottish Ministers in
2016.

The Island Reviews, reviews of electoral arrangements for the six council
areas with inhabited islands, recommended 65 ward boundaries of which 21
were over 10% variation from the electorate quota based on both existing and
five-year forecast electorates. These council areas cover the most remote
areas of Scotland. The Island Reviews were submitted to Scottish Ministers
in 2021 and included: Argyll and Bute; Highland; Na h-Eileanan an lar
(Western Isles); North Ayrshire; Orkney Islands; and Shetland Islands Council
areas.

By specifying a percentage target the Commission’s ability to balance the
parity rule with other rules could be constrained and may give rise to
otherwise avoidable situations for example very large geographical
constituencies or wards where population is sparse or breaking of community
ties in order to meet the target.

b. Public hearings
The Bill proposes 2-5 public hearings. In Scotland the limit of 2-5 hearings
during Westminster reviews has been unhelpful for the Boundary Commission
for Scotland, requiring restrictive choices to be made about where hearings
should be held.

If the purpose is to allow oral representations to be made with equal weight to
written representations then the number and location of hearings should be
flexible and ensure accessibility across the country.

If the purpose is more akin to the Scottish Parliament review process, where
local inquiries are held in areas where there is a weight of objection
expressed or simply where the Commission feels it would be helpful then
again a fixed number is an unnecessary constraint.

Pack Page 52



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 4 | Paper 4

Clarity over the option of in person, online or hybrid hearings would be helpful
for the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that people in remote and rural
areas can access hearings.

. Minimising disruption

We note that the Bill proposes retaining 6 members per constituency in future.
This is more likely to require future boundary change, and consequent
disruption, particularly with a fixed 10% variation from parity. A less disruptive
option might be to allow adjustment of constituency size from 5 to 7 (or 4 to 8)
members to reflect population change. Under such a system boundaries
would remain fixed.

. Automaticity

Automaticity is a welcome step in the right direction as it respects the
independence of the Commission and limits partisan inference. In our
experience it may also be good for parity outcomes. For example, the
rejection in 2017 by Scottish Ministers of electoral arrangements in City of
Dundee council area on the grounds of community ties, resulted in Dundee
being the most underrepresented of the Scottish cities in terms of councillor
numbers along with avoidable disparity between wards. Parity in Highland
council area and Argyll and Bute council areas has also been impacted by
rejection of new arrangements.

In the more recent reviews of Scottish council areas containing inhabited
islands, the recommendation from the lead Committee of the Scottish
Parliament to reject electoral arrangements in two council areas focussed on
outcomes not process and were influenced by political lobbying. Automaticity
has been adopted by the UK parliament for Westminster reviews and we are
keen that this is addressed by the Scottish Parliament.

. Engagement and scrutiny

To allay any concerns about automaticity it is important that consultation and
scrutiny facilitate full engagement. The Bill proposes 4 week consultations
which might be perceived to be too short. During the current Scottish
parliament review where there is a similar 4 week limit it has proved difficult
for councils, community councils and others who have a fixed meeting
schedule to comply with the deadlines.

Prof. Ailsa Henderson

Chair

Boundaries Scotland
October 2023

Pack Page 53



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 5 | Paper 5

THE ELECTORAL MANAGEMENT BOARD FOR
SCOTLAND (EMB)

Written evidence presented to

The Reform Bill Committee of the Senedd Cymru in their
consideration of the

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill

E M B Electoral Management
Board for Scotland

30 October 2023

Malcolm Burr

Convener of the Electoral Management Board for Scotland
c/o City of Edinburgh Council Elections Office,

249 High Street, Edinburgh EH1 1YJ

0131 469 3126

www.emb.scot

Pack Page 54 2



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 5 | Paper 5

Background - The Reform Bill Committee of Senedd Cymru

1.

Established on 12 July 2023, the Reform Bill Committee comprises four members from
different political groups represented in the Senedd. The Committee’s role is to
consider Bills referred to it by the Senedd’s Business Committee. The first Bill it is
considering is the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill, which was formally
introduced to the Welsh Parliament on 18 September 2023 as part of Senedd Reform.

The Electoral Management Board for Scotland (EMB) has been asked to contribute to
the Committee’s work by taking part in an oral evidence session on Thursday 9
November 2023. The purpose of the evidence session is to inform the Committee’s
scrutiny of the Bill. The session may cover any aspect of the Bill, but it is anticipated
that the focus will be on: the proposed changes to the electoral system; the proposed
changes to the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales; and the
proposed changes to the Senedd’s boundaries and boundary review arrangements.

Background - Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill

3. The Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill is a Welsh Government Bill which, if

passed, will

* Increase the size of the Senedd to 96 Members.

» Decrease the length of time between Senedd ordinary general elections from five
to four years.

* Increase the maximum number of Deputy Presiding Officers from one to two.

* Increase the legislative limit on the size of the Welsh Government to 17 (plus the
First Minister and Counsel General), with power to further increase the limit to 18
or 19.

* Require candidates to, and Members of, the Senedd to be resident in Wales (by
disqualifying candidates and Members who are not registered to vote in a Senedd
constituency).

* Provide a mechanism for the Seventh Senedd’s consideration of job-sharing of
offices relating to the Senedd (by requiring the Llywydd in the Seventh Senedd to
propose the establishment of a Senedd committee to review specified matters).

+ Change the Senedd’s electoral system so that all Members are elected via closed
list proportional representation, with votes translated into seats via the D’Hondt
formula.

* Repurpose and rename the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for
Wales; provide the renamed Democracy and Boundary Commission Cymru
(DBCC) with the functions needed to establish new Senedd constituencies and
undertake ongoing reviews of Senedd constituency boundaries; and provide
instructions for the DBCC to follow when undertaking boundary reviews.

* Provide for review of the operation and effect of the new legislative provisions
following the 2026 election (by requiring the Llywydd after the election to propose
the establishment of a Senedd committee to review specified matters).

4. Further detail about the Bill can be found in its accompanying Explanatory

Memorandum. Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill, as introduced and
Explanatory Memorandum

Evidence from the Electoral Management Board for Scotland

5. The Committee has asked the EMB to provide comment on several subject areas

relevant to the Bill. Comments from the EMB are presented below. The EMB is happy
to provide this written evidence for consideration by the Committee but would be

Pack Page 55 3



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 5 | Paper 5

pleased to expand on any element of it each in discussion with the Committee at the
evidence session or in writing.

It is to be noted that the EMB is an independent body which supports Returning
Officers (ROs) and Electoral Registration Officers (EROs) in Scotland. It is
independent of both the UK and Scottish Governments and accountable to the Scottish
Parliament. As such it is inappropriate for it to comment on matters of policy with
respect to electoral administration. Policy discussions are the remit of elected
governments.

However the EMB will offer comments on the practical implications of policies that are
being considered or are being implemented. Such comments will include
consideration of the impact on the delivery of elections by ROs and EROs. The EMB
is always particularly concerned with ensuring that the interests of the voter are kept
at the centre of all election planning and delivery; comments may particularly reflect
that concern.

Experience of implementing a new electoral system (we understand that the
EMB Scotland was only created in 2011, and STV was introduced in Scottish
local authorities in 2007, but any insight that could be offered would be
welcomed)

10.

11.

12.

13.

While the EMB was created by statute in 2011 it had existed in form as an interim body
since 2008, pulled together on a voluntary basis by ROs and EROs and their advisers
with input from the Electoral Commission and governments to support the electoral
administration following problems with the delivery of the combined Scottish
Parliament and Scottish Local Government Elections in 2007.

An independent review of the Scottish Parliamentary and local government elections
on 3 May 2007 was undertaken by the Canadian election expert Ron Gould which
made a number of recommendations including the decoupling of elections to ensure
that each received a parity of esteem and publicity, and the need to ensure that legal
changes governing elections were in place at least 6 months ahead of any poll to allow
adequate time for planning and implementation.

He also proposed the creation of a Chief Returning Officer for Scotland. While this
recommendation was not implemented the creation of the EMB in many ways
responded to the problems that he identified which prompted that recommendation in
that he saw a need for a single point of contact for the oversight of elections and for a
vehicle for the promotion and development of best practice.

The EMB would recommend that the Senedd Committee reviews the Gould report and
notes its comments on the challenges of operating multiple electoral systems. In
general however the issues to be considered are presented below.

The first is the risk of voter confusion. Voters need to understand how to cast their
vote. Multiple electoral systems can be operated but there needs to be clear and
effective public awareness campaigns to support the voter so that the vote is used as
they intend and not unintentionally spoiled. Where there are multiple systems
operating for elections on the same day such public awareness campaigns can be
challenging to plan and deliver.

A second risk is the complexity for the electoral administrator / Returning Officer team
responsible for the planning, preparation and delivery of the election. Multiple electoral

Pack Page 56 4




RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 5 | Paper 5

14.

systems make the training of staff and the administration of poll and count more
challenging and introduce additional risks to the sound delivery of the election. These
risks can all be managed but require robust governance frameworks and professional
project planning to promote effective and well-managed systems.

There is also a risk for candidates, agents and parties who need to develop an
understanding of the voting system so that they can stand, campaign and ultimately
offer the voter an informed and effective choice.

Experience of managing elections in a context where there are different
franchises, boundaries and systems for different tiers of elections.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

Returning Officers in Scotland have currently to deliver three tiers of election each of
which operates to different electoral systems and over different boundaries. Local
authority elections operate a Single Transferable Vote (STV) system using the
Weighted Inclusive Gregory (WIG) method of counting, with multi-member wards. The
system used for Scottish Parliament general elections is known as the Additional
Member System (AMS), a "mixed member system" or as "mixed member proportional
representation". Electors have two votes. Constituency MSPs are elected on a first
past the post system with Regional MSPs elected from a list using the d’Hondt system
which allocates additional seats to political parties or independent candidates. UK
Parliamentary elections use the first past the post system. Up until 2019 European
Parliament election were also administered by ROs and EROs on another different
electoral system and boundaries.

There are also different franchises in operation for these polls with that for devolved
polls being different from that for reserved UK elections, the major difference being
that the voting age is 16 for devolved elections and foreign nationals are able to vote.

ROs and EROs successfully deliver elections under these different systems, with the
Electoral Commission repeatedly reporting that elections in Scotland have been
managed well with no concerns with respect to the integrity of the polls.

However this successful delivery has only been achieved following significant work by
the teams of ROs and EROs across Scotland. The divergence between different polls
necessarily introduces complexity and potential confusion for voter, electoral
administrator and candidates.

For the voter this complexity needs to be addressed by effective public awareness
exercises that explain clearly how to vote and how the vote will be counted to allow the
voter to make informed decisions about how to vote. These public awareness
campaigns are run by Returning Officers but for enhanced impact they often align with
national campaigns undertaken by the Electoral Commission who can plan and
procure media campaigns that have a greater impact than those delivered locally by
ROs.

ROs and EROs need to build the additional complexity and divergence into their own
planning, procedures and systems to ensure that staff understand the differences and
operate each system effectively. Again the Electoral Commission provide helpful
guidance but the divergence does add to the complexity of the administration.

Similarly candidates and political parties need to understand the systems to ensure
that they can campaign effectively to offer the voters appropriate choice.

There are undoubtedly sound policy reasons for the adoption of different electoral

systems but on a practical level the divergence does pose challenges that need to be
accommodated with enhanced public awareness and training operations.

Pack Page 57 5




RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 5 | Paper 5

23.

24.

One basic example has been the need to provide focussed training for election staff
on the operation of the STV system so that they remind voters to vote for as many
candidates as they wish, using a 1 for their first choice, a 2 for their second etc, while
many papers are still marked with a single cross.

Again the EMB would encourage the Senedd committee to review recent Electoral
Commission reports on STV elections in Scotland which have identified the need to
consider ways to minimise spoilt votes where the voter has not understood the voting
system leading to high rates of spoiled papers. For example the Electoral Commission
report on the 2022 council elections in Scotland noted that “while the level of spoilt
ballots across Scotland has declined since the 2017 council elections, they increased
in some wards; further action is needed to address this.”

The Bill does not propose STV, but STV has been a recommendation made in
the context of Senedd elections and Members are likely to be interested in the
experience of operating elections under STV.

25.

26.

27.

28.

Some of the issues with respect to the operation of STV are noted above with respect
to the need for public awareness to ensure an understanding of the system such that
votes are not unintentionally spoiled.

It should also be noted that “general” STV elections in Scotland where all members
are elected to all sets in all 32 councils every five years, are counted electronically.
By-elections are usually also counted electronically although some ROs do choose to
count manually.

An electronic count is a major investment and a significant procurement exercise every
five years. However it has been judged as the optimal method of counting given the
number of candidates across the multiple wards and the complexity of the counting
system, involving the transfer of fractions of votes. The procurement of a system to
deliver electronic counting across the 32 councils is a large procurement project
ultimately awarding a contract costing several million pounds. Besides the speed and
accuracy of the electronic count the other benefit is the generation of volumes of data
with the system allowing access to data on voting patterns even down to individual
ballot boxes which is useful data for political groups and academics as the analyse
voting patterns.

The electronic count solution is only really practical when delivered across multiple
counts where economies of scale render it an efficient option. Costs would be
prohibitive were it to be deployed at only one or two locations,

The Elections and Elected Bodies (Wales) Bill (which is not the direct subject of
the Committee’s scrutiny) proposes giving the functions of an EMB to the
current Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales (to be
reconfigured and renamed by the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill
as the Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales). On that basis, to
inform its scrutiny of the relevant provisions in the Senedd Cymru (Members
and Elections) Bill (Part 3 of the Bill) the Committee would be interested in
hearing about the role and experience of the EMB Scotland. Part 3 of the Bill
makes provision, for example in respect of the number of members of the DBCC,
disqualifications from being a member, CEX or assistant commissioner of the
DBCC, and quorum.

29.

The fundamental issue with respect to the EMB is its independence from government.
The EMB has a defined role to promote best practice and to support ROs and EROs.

Pack Page 58 6




RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 5 | Paper 5

30.

31.

To achieve this the Convener following consultation can make directions to ROs and
EROs and will routinely make such directions for each election to ensure a consistency
of approach on key voter facing elements — such as the date of dispatch of poll cards
and postal votes — and to ensure adequate contingency — for example proposing
suitable numbers to be allocated to polling stations to prevent queues. However to
ensure and protect the autonomy and independence of the RO and ERO who properly
are accountable only to the courts and not to any politician, the EMB must itself be
independent and not subject to any political influence. The protects the independence
of RO and ERO and also promotes the interest of the voter ultimately to deliver
elections with results that can be trusted as accurate.

In terms of the operation of the EMB, the Convener is appointed by Ministers. The
Convener then appoints five ROs and three EROs with an effort to ensure a spread of
experience and a representation of different types of constituency: urban, rural island
etc.

The Board’'s objective, principles and approach are discussed in the background
paragraphs below. With respect to the overall approach there is an effort to operate
through a progression of consensus where possible, guidance where helpful and
direction if necessary. The Board has the privilege of supporting a close and mutually
supportive community of electoral professionals in Scotland which makes consensus
a valid and practical approach. The concern to protect the independence of the RO
also means that the Convener will only intervene where necessary in promotion of best
practice and to support the RO and ERO and will avoid interference to take away the
local autonomy and role of the RO.

Pack Page 59 7



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 5 | Paper 5

Background — The Electoral Management Board for Scotland

32. The Electoral Management Board for Scotland (EMB) was established by the Local
Electoral Administration (Scotland) Act 2011. This Act gave the Board “the general
function of co-ordinating the administration of local government elections in Scotland.”
The Scottish Elections (Reform) Act 2020 extended the remit of the Board to cover
elections to the Scottish Parliament.

33. The EMB is independent of both Scottish and UK Governments and political parties
and is accountable to the Scottish Parliament. The Convener is appointed by Ministers
and leads a Board consisting of Returning Officers, their Deputes and Electoral
Registration Officers.

34. Advisors include the professional associations: the Association of Electoral
Administrators (AEA), the Electoral Registration Committee of the Scottish Assessors
Association (SAA), the Elections Working Group of the Society of Local Authority
Lawyers & Administrators in Scotland (SOLAR), and Scottish and UK Governments,
and the Electoral Commission.

35. The EMB’s prime focus is ensuring that the interests of the voter are kept at the centre
of all election planning and administration. The work of the EMB assumes the close
community of electoral professionals in Scotland and accordingly the Board seeks to
operate by consensus rather than formal direction, wherever possible. However, the
Convener does have a power to issue directions to Returning Officers and Electoral
Registration Officers in relation to their duties around Scottish Parliament and Local
Government elections as required, and this power has been exercised in recent
elections with the consent and wish of the electoral community.

36. The EMB has assisted in the coordination of the work of ROs and EROs in the delivery
of European Parliamentary Elections, UK Parliamentary General Elections, Scottish
Parliament Elections, Scottish Local Government Elections and UK and Scottish
Referendums. Where the Convener does not have a legal power of direction the Board
has made recommendations to achieve consistency and support adequate
contingency planning across the country. Since its creation, the EMB has had an
increasingly important role in promoting a consistent delivery approach, acting as a
single point of contact for stakeholders and providing a source of professional expertise
and support to the electoral community.

The EMB’s Role

37. The EMPB’s “general function of co-ordinating the administration of local government
and Scottish Parliament elections” involves two specific roles:

(a) assisting local authorities and other persons in carrying out their functions in
relation to local government elections; and

(b) promoting best practice in local government elections by providing information,
advice or training (or otherwise).

38. The over-riding goal is to ensure that the interests of the voter are kept at the centre of
all election planning, delivery and administration.

| Our Objective

Pack Page 60 8



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 5 | Paper 5
39. With respect to specific electoral events this function translates into a single clear
objective: “....to deliver a result that will be trusted as accurate.” The currency of
elections is trust. Confidence in the result is fundamental to the democratic process
and is predicated on confidence in all stages of the process of planning and delivering

an electoral event.

Our Principles

40. The EMB shapes its work around four key principles:

» Accessibility - there should be no barriers to any voter taking part;

» Consistency - voters should have the same experience wherever they are in Scotland;
» Efficiency - electoral events will be administered efficiently; and

* Integrity - electoral events will produce results that are accepted as accurate.

| Our Approach

41. The Board has the privilege of supporting a close and mutually supportive community
of electoral professionals in Scotland. The preferred approach is always to operate
through a progression of consensus where possible, guidance where helpful and
direction if necessary.

Pack Page 61 9



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 6 | Paper 6
Efa Gyuffudd Jones 01/07
Agepdasttem 5
elsh Language Commissioner

Comisiynydd y
Gymraeg

Welsh Language
Commissioner

Reform Bill Committee
Senedd Cymru,

Cardiff Bay
Cardiff
CF99 1SN

SeneddReform@senedd.wales

26/10/2023
Dear Committee,

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill

Thank you for the opportunity to provide you with written and oral evidence on this historic
Bill in the development of devolution in Wales. | look forward to meeting you to discuss the
Bill in more detail on 9 November.

As the Welsh Language Commissioner my main aim in exercising my functions is to
promote and facilitate the use of the Welsh language as set out in the Welsh Language
(Wales) Measure 2011. The functions are detailed in Part 2 of that Measure. | also have
an important and unique responsibility to recommend the standard forms of Welsh place-
names and my officials offer a popular advisory service to organisations of all kinds. |
therefore limit my comments to the specific aspects of the Bill that | believe relate to
opportunities to use the Welsh language, as well as the potential effects of the Bill on my
activities as Commissioner.

1. Increasing the size of the Senedd to 96 Members
The Explanatory Memorandum in setting out the background to the Bill’s intention to
increase the size of the Senedd to 96 members explains: ‘A consistent concern arising
in the varied reports has been that the size of the Senedd impacts on its collective
ability to effectively hold the Welsh Government to account, including scrutiny of policy
and legislation’ (36 in the memorandum) and ‘In particular, a lack of capacity limits the
ability of Members of the Senedd to specialise, as would be the case in other
parliaments. Ideally, Members are experts in a particular field of scrutiny, utilising
committee meetings to hold the Welsh Government to account, not only on the basis of
background briefings from staff, but on the basis of their own research and

Comisiynydd y Gymraeg Welsh Language Commissioner

Siambrau'r Farchnad Market Chambers

5-7 Heol Eglwys Fair 5~7 St Mary Street

Caerdydd CF10 1AT Cardiff CF10 1AT

0345 6033 221 0345 6033 221
post@comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru post@welshlanguagecommissioner.wales _
Croesewir gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a'r Saesneg Correspondence welcomed in Welsh and English

Pack Page 62

comisivavadvavimraea.omnry welshlanguagecommissioner.wales




RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 6 | Paper 6
02/07

C

Comisiynydd y
Gymraeg

Welsh Language
Commissioner

engagement’ (39 in the memorandum). | would welcome every possible opportunity to
increase the scrutiny of policies and legislation relating to the Welsh language across
all areas within the Welsh Government’s competence, not just on matters that appear
to relate specifically to the Welsh language. There is great potential for many other
laws and policies to affect opportunities for people to use the Welsh language in areas
as varied as the economy, innovation, the environment, planning and education. It is
therefore possible that increasing the size of the Senedd to 96 members would
increase that capacity and enable a higher number of Members to become experts on
the Welsh language, and for all members to gain a better understanding of the position
of the Welsh language in Wales today. However, we cannot take this for granted of
course so the importance of the infrastructure provided by the staff of the Senedd
Commission and the staff of Members and parties must be emphasised to enable
Members to deepen their knowledge of the position of the Welsh language.

In accordance with the Government of Wales Act 2006, the English and Welsh texts of
all Assembly Measures or Senedd Cymru Acts which are in both English and Welsh
when enacted, and the texts of any subordinate legislation which is in both English and
Welsh when it is made, are to be treated for all purposes as being of equal status. It is
therefore absolutely essential that Senedd Members are able to scrutinise the
legislation in both languages to ensure that the Welsh and English languages are
treated equally and that legislation in both languages fulfils its policy aim.

Part 1, Section 35 (2) of the Government of Wales Act states ‘The Assembly [now the
Senedd of course] must, in the conduct of Assembly proceedings, give effect, so far as
is both appropriate in the circumstances and reasonably practicable, to the principle
that the English and Welsh languages should be treated on a basis of equality.” All
Members of the Senedd therefore have the right to use the Welsh and English
languages in their work as Members. The language that they choose to use is of
course a matter for individual Members. Data on the use of Welsh by Senedd Members
is published in the annual report on the operation of the Senedd’s Official Languages
Scheme. The latest report (2022— 23), for example, notes that the percentage of Welsh
language contributions in Plenary Meetings continued at the same level (30%) as the
previous year but that there was a reduction in the percentage of Welsh language
contributions in Committees (12%) compared to 2021-22. These figures have been as
low as 16% a 6% as recently as 2019 — 20). The latest report recognises that this is
disappointing and worrying and acknowledges the complex factors that can affect the
language choice of individuals in different contexts and offers pragmatic solutions to try
and reverse the pattern. And this pattern needs to be reversed urgently in order to
ensure real status for the Welsh language as a working language on the floor of the
Senedd. | would encourage all Members to try to use their Welsh at every possible
opportunity and to take a lead role in modelling for Wales and the world how to work
truly bilingually.

| believe that this increase in the size of the Senedd is a golden opportunity to
introduce new linguistic working practices among Senedd Members and to reconsider
whether the existing infrastructufr@ 64 Ba@@r3Senedd Members is sufficient to



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 6 | Paper 6
03/07

C

Comisiynydd y
Gymraeg

Welsh Language
Commissioner

ensure that Members are able to fully scrutinise bilingual Welsh legislation, and
sufficient to encourage and enable them to exercise their right to use the Welsh
language fully in their work as Members. Consideration should be given at this point to
how to address all barriers that mean that Members do not use the Welsh language
and that sufficient investment and planning is in place to support Senedd Members to
work through the medium of Welsh in this new context. By starting to plan now this is a
truly exciting opportunity for our Senedd to innovate to become a truly bilingual
legislature.

2. Decreasing the length of time between Senedd ordinary general elections from
five to four years.
| have no view on changing the period of time between ordinary Senedd elections back
to four years as it used to be. However, | know that it is not an easy and quick matter to
develop policy and legislation in any area, and that considerable resources are needed
to enable that. Therefore, | ask Members to ensure that they believe that four-year
terms allow sufficient time to scrutinise and legislate on policy and legislation in all
areas within the competence of the Senedd, including the Welsh language. Similarly,
should the periods between elections be shorter, it would have to be ensured that
every Welsh Government department has sufficient resources to enable policy and
legislation to be developed in all areas within its competence in which it intends to
legislate within the time available for it to do so.

3. Increasing the maximum number of Deputy Presiding Officers from one to two
| have no view on increasing the maximum number of Deputy Presiding Officers from
one to two. | would encourage that consideration be given to the need for at least one
Deputy Presiding Officer to be able to speak Welsh in order to facilitate the use of the
Welsh language in the Senedd and to provide guidance in doing so.

4. Increasing the legislative limit on the size of the Welsh Government to 17 (plus
the First Minister and Counsel General), with power to further increase this limit
to 18 or 19.

The Welsh language is a matter within the competence of the Welsh Government and
Senedd that is completely unique to Wales. However, the Welsh language has been a
always been part of the Welsh Government ministers’ portfolio since the beginning of
devolution. It is possible that increasing the number of ministers would enable the
Welsh Government to create a minister who could concentrate solely on the Welsh
language. Allocating a minister’s time to strategically lead on the overarching subject of
the Welsh language would possible allow an additional ministerial resource to ensure
that the Welsh language is considered strategically across the portfolios of all ministers
in the Government.

5. Require candidates to, and Members of, the Senedd to be resident in Wales (by
disqualifying candidates and Members who are not registered to vote in a
Senedd constituency).

| have no comment on this matter.
Pack Page 64



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 6 | Paper 6
04/07

C

Comisiynydd y
Gymraeg

Welsh Language
Commissioner

6. Provide a mechanism for the Seventh Senedd’s consideration of job-sharing of
offices relating to the Senedd (by requiring the LIywydd in the Seventh Senedd
to propose the establishment of a Senedd committee to review specified
matters).

In terms of the Welsh language in particular, | do not have a view on this matter.
However, | would welcome every opportunity to remove barriers that prevent people
from becoming Members of the Senedd. The last census showed that the age profile of
Welsh speakers is lower than the general population. Of those who reported being able
to speak Welsh in 2021, more than half were under the age of 33 and three quarters
were under 57. A small increase was seen in the number of speakers in the 20-44 age
group who are an age group where many plan to raise families and develop their
careers. It is therefore possible that more flexible working methods would attract more
Welsh speakers.

7. Change the Senedd’s electoral system so that all Members are elected via closed
list proportional representation, with votes translated into seats via the D’Hondt
formula.
| have no comment on this matter.

8. Repurpose and rename the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for
Wales. Provide the renamed Democracy and Boundary Commission Cymru
(DBCC) with the functions needed to establish new Senedd constituencies and
undertake ongoing reviews of Senedd constituency boundaries; and provide
instructions for the DBCC to follow when undertaking boundary reviews.

This section has specific implications for the work of the Welsh Language
Commissioner. It places the specific requirement on the Local Democracy and
Boundary Commission for Wales that will be called Democracy and Boundary
Commission Cymru to consult with the Welsh Language Commissioner on the
proposed orthography of nhames for communicating through the medium of Welsh and
to take account of any comments received from the Welsh Language Commissioner in
considering its proposals. This is in relation to a 2026 boundary review and subsequent
Senedd constituency boundaries after that.

As you know, my office has a specific responsibility to recommend standard forms of
place-names. We have a panel of experts to support us in this work and the panel has
developed national standardisation guidelines to ensure a consistent and robust basis
for the work. We have a good and successful relationship with the officers of the Local
Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales and the Boundary Commission for
Wales since the establishment of the Commissioner’s office and have provided them
with regular advice on naming issues as they carry out reviews. Indeed, we have just
started advising the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission on the names of
communities as part of their series of community reviews. | therefore welcome
extending this relationship to encompass the constituency names of the Senedd and
that the relationship is formalisedPi@G&giRagentS




RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 6 | Paper 6
05/07

C

Comisiynydd y
Gymraeg

Welsh Language
Commissioner

However, it must be emphasised that this collaboration has not always led to the
adoption of the forms recommended by the Commissioner. The Commissioner’s work
is to recommend and there is no statutory requirement for anyone to follow these
recommendations. This can lead to a situation where inconsistent decisions are being
made in relation to place-names, as in the case of some names on electoral wards
confirmed in recent Welsh Government regulations. My predecessor as Commissioner,
Aled Roberts, wrote to Jeremy Miles MS as Minister for Education and Welsh
Language outlining some of the challenges that arose at the time.

These challenges can
lead to confusion and inconsistency. Some of these frustrations about naming
processes were further reinforced as the Commissioner responded to the Boundary
Commission for Wales’ Parliamentary Review 2023 as well. This opportunity must be
used to learn lessons and refine the system ensuring that the Welsh language is
treated no less favourably than the English language in determining those names that
will be at the heart of democracy in Wales.

| therefore recommend that, on the basis of considerable experience in this area, the
Committee considers the following issues:

A requirement under Schedule 1 of the Bill to set out the names of Senedd
constituencies in a report is a requirement to ‘identify both names— (a) in the Welsh
version, and (b) in the English version, unless the Commission considers that one
name is acceptable for communication in either language’. In addition, following the
publication of its second report on the 2026 boundary review (c) ‘if the Commission is
considering any changes to the proposals set out in the initial report for the names of
the Senedd constituencies to be used for communicating through the medium of
Welsh— (i) to consult the Welsh Language Commissioner on the orthography of the
proposed names, and 5 (ii) have regard to any comments made by the Commissioner’.

| welcome the acknowledgement of the fact that one name may be acceptable for
communication in either language. | believe that it should go further than that and give
priority to names that would be appropriate for use in both languages in order to avoid
unnecessary dual names. In the case of a number of constituencies at present, only
one name - a Welsh name - exists as a name for the constituency in both languages.
The Guidelines for Standardising Place-names in Wales note ‘If the difference between
the Welsh form and the ‘English’ form consists of only one or two letters, the use of a
single form is recommended, with preference being given to the Welsh form. This
accords with the recommendations of the Ordnance Survey and the Highway
Authorities.” We would strongly recommend that this principle be adopted by the
Commission in its work.

The current Bill therefore places the responsibility on the Commission to consider and
decide whether one name would be acceptable for communication in either language.
My officials know from experience that this is not always an easy decision and a
number of factors can infeackRayaHt is essential that consistent guidance is drawn



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 6 | Paper 6
06/07

C

Comisiynydd y
Gymraeg

Welsh Language
Commissioner

up at the beginning of this process which will provide robust criteria for reaching
decisions like this to ensure that these decisions are not made on the whim of
individuals. A robust policy in favour of monolingual names - which are Welsh names -
would be a means of avoiding lengthy discussions about names and a means of
promoting and popularising the use of Welsh only names as has recently become a
popular practice among our national parks. Adopting a Welsh-only nhame would be a
powerful indicator of the status of the Welsh language in Wales.

Despite the possibility of one name being suitable for both languages, it is noted that
the intention is to consult the Welsh Language Commissioner on the orthography of the
proposed name for communicating through the medium of Welsh only. It must be
inquired why the same advisory service is not available to Commission officers as they
determine the names to be used in English texts? As already noted, it is very possible
that a constituency will have a Welsh name only so noting that the requirement is to
consult the Commissioner regarding names for communicating through the medium of
Welsh is misleading. Neither does it do justice to the extensive expertise that the
Commissioner has in the field. The Commissioner is responsible for standardising the
place names of Wales — and not just names that originate from the Welsh language.

As a pairing exercise will take place for the 2026 elections it may well be necessary to
use compound words when referring to constituency names. Take for example, if the
Dwyfor Meirionnydd constituency were to be paired with the Ynys Moén constituency. It
must be asked what would be the name of this constituency, which has the same name
in Welsh and English, in the case of current Westminster Parliamentary constituencies,
by the time of the 2026 elections. For example, would it have to be ‘Dwyfor
Meirionnydd ac Ynys Mén’ in Welsh as well as ‘Dwyfor Meirionnydd and Ynys Mén’ in
English or could it be ‘Dwyfor Meirionnydd Ynys Mén’ which would work in both
languages, but would possibly not be acceptable to constituents as it is a made-up
name that piles up elements and is strange at first sight. My intention by noting this is
to highlight that there are a number of considerations in relation to recommending the
forms of constituency names that may not be apparent at first sight, and appropriate
time must be set aside to discuss and reach agreement on principles and clear
patterns to be followed. It would be highly desirable if agreed conventions were
developed by a committee of experts and kept under consideration in undertaking such
a task and for that to be a statutory requirement as part of the Commission’s work in
conjunction with the Commissioner. As has already been noted, my staff have
considerable experience of working with the Boundary Commission for Wales on the
boundaries of Westminster constituencies and with the Local Democracy and
Boundary Commission for Wales on the names of electoral wards and communities. In
addition, they have considerable experience of working with local authorities and other
national bodies on projects to standardise the forms of place-names and landscape
features, which in turn underpin many administrative names. It is fair for me to point out
here that | would find it desirable for consideration to be given to the need for an
additional resource because of this statutory requirement that will be upon me and my

staff, specifically to develop the ai\:greed conventions referred to above.
ack Page 67



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur 6 | Paper 6
07/07

C

Comisiynydd y
Gymraeg

Welsh Language
Commissioner

In terms of the involvement with the Welsh Language Commissioner, a similar process
to the one with 2026 constituencies is outlined in Schedule 2 of the Bill in the case of
constituencies for the period post 2026 and specifically when conducting a ‘full’
boundary review before the Senedd Election in 2030. The above points are therefore
relevant in that case too.

| look forward to continuing to discuss the specific provisions of the Bill in relation to the
work of the Welsh Language Commissioner further with the Local Democracy and
Boundary Commission for Wales (to be called the Democracy and Boundary
Commission for Wales in due course).

9. Provide for review of the operation and effect of the new legislative provisions
following the 2026 election (by requiring the Llywydd after the election to
propose the establishment of a Senedd committee to review specified matters).

It seems reasonable to undertake a review of the impact of the legislative provisions
following the 2026 election and the way in which they are implemented. | would
welcome if consideration were given to the impact of the provisions on opportunities for
people to use the Welsh language.

| look forward to discussing the Bill further with you on 9 November.

Yours sincerely,
F Gt

Efa Gruffudd Jones
Welsh Language Commissioner

Enc.

Pack Page 68



By virtue of paragraph(s) iv of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 71



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.1 | Paper to hote 6.1

Mick Antoniw AS/MS Agend e
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad “Zr

Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution J[-/JA

U

Eich cyf/Your ref CG/PO/355/2023 Llywodraeth Cymru
Ein cyf/Our ref CG/P0O/355/2023 Welsh Government

David Rees MS
Chair, Reform Bill Committee

20" October 2023
Dear David

Thank you for your letter of 26 September 2023 regarding interdependencies between the
Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill and the forthcoming Gender Quotas Bill.

As the Gender Quotas Bill will be introduced to the Senedd by the Deputy Minister for Social

Partnership she will respond to the specific points raised in your letter.

Yours sincerely,
Mien QLo

Mick Antoniw AS/MS
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:

0300 0604400
Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru
Caerdydd « Cardiff Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov. Wales

CF99 1SN
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any coFr)e@pGrKIeRafg@i\g(an Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.


mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.2 | Paper to note 6.2

r w Tﬁi f Senedd Cymru
Ag @WBP&. é VH.QZ Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN
SeneddDiwygio@enedd.cymru

Reform Bill Commiittee senedd.cymru/SeneddDiwygio
0300 200 6565

Welsh Parliament
Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN

SeneddReform@senedd.wales
senedd.wales/SeneddReform
0300 200 6565

Mick Antoniw MS
Counsel General
Welsh Government

25 October 2023

Dear Mick
Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: interdependency with the anticipated gender quotas Bill

Thank you for your letter of 20 October 2023 indicating that we can expect to receive a response
from the Deputy Minister for Social Partnership, as the Member in charge of the forthcoming gender
quotas Bill, to my letter of 26 September 2023.

We understand that the Deputy Minister may be better placed to respond in respect of some of the
detail of the proposals to be brought forward in the anticipated Bill, and we look forward to receiving
her response by 3 November 2023.

However, | note that in writing to you we were mindful of your various roles as Counsel General,
including responsibility for the accessibility of Welsh law; as Minister for the Constitution, with overall
responsibility for elections policy; and as Member in charge of the Senedd Cymru (Members and
Elections) Bill, with responsibility for ensuring that your Bill will work effectively within the overall
legislative framework and that the accompanying explanatory memorandum and regulatory impact
assessment provide the best estimates and information to inform Senedd and stakeholder scrutiny.

The introduction of two such closely-linked pieces of legislation within a short period of time is
unusual. The challenge of scrutinising the first of these linked pieces of legislation without having
sight, even in draft, of the second, is considerable.

We look forward, therefore, to receiving your response to questions 2(c) and (d) set out in my letter of
26 September 2023 (reproduced below for ease of reference):

Pack Page 84

’f’// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.2 | Paper to note 6.2

2(c) An assessment of the implications the proposed policy [in the gender quotas Bill] may
reasonably be expected to have for the operation and implementation of the electoral
system proposed in the SC(ME) Bill, including, but not limited to, the submission of
candidate lists to constituency returning officers (section 7(1)), the length of candidate
lists (section 7(3)), and candidate eligibility for filling vacant seats (section 9).

2(d) Information about how such implications have been taken into account in the
assessment of the financial and other impacts in the Explanatory Memorandum to the
SC(ME) Bill. This should include details of which of the financial or other impact
assessments would have been substantively different had provision regarding gender
quotas been included in the SC(ME) Bill, and, if so, how.

It would be helpful to receive your response by 3 November 2023.

Yours sincerely
- /——""F
?a,d rC) /f’ . /)@w .

David Rees MS
Chair, Reform Bill Committee

cc Peredur Owen Griffiths MS, Chair, Finance Committee
Huw Irranca Davies MS, Chair, Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee
Hannah Blythyn MS, Deputy Minister for Social Partnership

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English.

Pack Page 85

’f’// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament



Age

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.3 | Paper to note 6.3

afeemr &S _
Y Dirprwy Weinidog Partneriaeth Gymdeithasol
Deputy Minister for Social Partnership

David Rees MS
Chair, Reform Bill Committee

Dear David,

4

U
L2

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

01 November 2023

Thank you for your letter of 26 September 2023 regarding interdependencies between the
Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill and the forthcoming Bill regarding gender
quotas. | am replying as the Member in Charge of the forthcoming Bill. | have sought to

address below each of the questions in your letter.

The Government’s commitment to bring forward legislation within 12-18 months following
the Special Purpose Committee’s (SPC) report in May 2022 has required us to work at pace
to translate high level recommendations into detailed policy proposals. This timeframe has
not allowed for the forthcoming Bill to be published before introduction to the Senedd.
Statutory candidate gender quotas for Senedd Elections have been the subject of
consideration by various panels and Senedd committees over recent years and key
stakeholders, including experts have been involved in informing some of the

recommendations that have emanated from these groups.

| am keen to support scrutiny of the forthcoming Bill and its connection to the wider Senedd
Reform package of legislation. | will therefore, if possible, aim to provide the committee with
an embargoed, advance copy of the Bill before introduction. | would be grateful if Members
would bear in mind that the Bill will be subject to the standard pre-introductory checks,

including the Llywydd’s determination upon it.

The purpose of the introduction of candidate quotas is to make the Senedd a more effective
legislature for, and on behalf of, the people of Wales, by aiming to ensure the Senedd is
broadly representative of the gender make-up of the Welsh population. The benefits that
may be derived from the representation of women in a legislature will be set out in the

Explanatory Memorandum for the Bill.

The Senedd has a relatively good track record of a membership that is gender balanced. A
high point was achieved in 2003 with 50% of Members elected to the second Assembly
being women. Since then, however, levels of women’s representation in the Senedd has

Bae Caerdydd - Cardiff Bay
Caerdydd « Cardiff
CF99 1SN

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:

0300 0604400

Gohebiaeth.Hannah.Blythyn@llyw.cymru

Correspondence.Hannah.Blythyn@gov.wales

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in WelR.aQ'K cB@Q@d&@ received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.


mailto:Gohebiaeth.Hannah.Blythyn@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Hannah.Blythyn@gov.wales

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.3 | Paper to note 6.3

fallen below this level, despite the latest census figures showing that 51% of the population
are women. This shows that women are currently an underrepresented majority in our
legislature.

In considering the high-level recommendation of the SPC, we have needed to design
detailed policy which has included some consideration of approaches used around the
world and what may work best in the context of Senedd elections. Our proposed model for
quotas is designed to maximise the chances of achieving a Senedd comprised of at least
50% women (this being broadly reflective of our population), whilst also being capable of
being effectively implemented within the Senedd electoral system.

The legislation will provide for candidate gender quotas within the closed list system
(provided for in the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill), in keeping with the SPC
recommendation. Specifically, it will set a minimum threshold for the proportion of women
on party candidate lists and in the first position across all a party’s lists. Constituency
Returning Officers (CROs) and a new national officer will play a key role in assessing
parties’ compliance with the rules. In developing the model, we have worked to ensure that
Senedd elections can continue to be run effectively.

During the design of the policy, the Welsh Government has engaged with representatives of
the electoral community to consider the impacts of quotas on existing electoral processes,
including in the context of the changes to be put in place as a result of the new closed list
proportional system.

The forthcoming legislation will not impact on the operation and implementation of the
electoral system proposed in the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill. For example,
the provisions about submitting candidate lists to CROs (section 8 of the Senedd Cymru
(Members and Elections) Bill, substituting a new section 7 in the Government of Wales Act
2006), the length of candidate lists (new section 7(3)) and the filling of vacant seats (section
9 of the Bill), will remain the same whether they operate with or without quotas.
Nevertheless, quotas are an important part of the overall Senedd reform package and both
pieces of legislation have been designed to complement each other.

| can confirm that, as recommended by the SPC report, it is intended for CROs to be
responsible for checking that party lists are compliant with the quota legislation at the local
constituency level, much in the same way as they currently receive and assess nomination
papers and party lists for completeness and compliance with current electoral rules.

The Explanatory Memorandum and the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) for the
Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill was limited to the scope of that Bill. The
financial impacts of quotas will be set out in a separate RIA within the Explanatory
Memorandum for the forthcoming Bill. To help the Committee in its scrutiny of the Bill
currently before the Senedd, the Counsel General and | can confirm that the financial or
other impact assessments of the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill would not
have been substantively different had provision regarding quotas been included in it. This is
because of the approach that has been taken to integrate the model into existing electoral
processes and the proposals for a closed list proportional electoral system.

| understand you wrote to the Counsel General on 25 October 2023 in relation to questions
2(c) and 2(d) included in your letter dated 26 September 2023. | can confirm that my
response to these questions reflects the position shared by us both, and | trust provides the
committee with the information it requires.

| look forward to introduction of the Bill and to Workin8q7with the committee during scrutiny.
Pack Page



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.3 | Paper to note 6.3

This letter is being copied to the chairs of the Finance and Legislation, Justice and
Constitution Committees.

Yours sincerely

Hannah Blythyn AS/MS
Y Dirprwy Weinidog Partneriaeth Gymdeithasol
Deputy Minister for Social Partnership

CC: Peredur Owen Griffiths MS, Chair, Finance Committee
Huw Irranca Davies MS, Chair, Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee

Pack Page 88



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.4 | Paper to note 6.4 Senedd Cymru

Y Pwyligor Deddfwriaeth, eéaédﬁé;éﬂyf%y]ﬁ . 4

° ’ ° edd.cymrt/SeneddD
Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 0500 200 6o0s

Legislation, Justice and Welsh Parliament

Constitution Committee Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN
SeneddLIC@senedd.wales

senedd.wales/SeneddLIC
0300 200 6565

Mick Antoniw MS,
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution

31 October 2023

Dear Mick,

Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee, 16 October 2023

over to the Committee.

As noted at the start of the meeting, there are a series of questions we wished to ask you but for which
time did not allow. As such, we would welcome a response to the questions in the Annex by
16 November 2023.

| am copying this letter to the Chair of the Reform Bill Committee, David Rees MS.

Yours sincerely,

Alun Davies
Chair (Temporary)

Pack Page 89

’f’// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament


https://business.senedd.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=725&MId=13512&Ver=4

RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.4 | Paper to note 6.4

ANNEX

Section 5 — Increasing number of Ministers

Question 1: Section 5 of the Bill permits the maximum limit of the Welsh Ministers to be increased, by
regulations, from 17 to 18 or 19. Why is a regulation-making power being proposed and why would a
new Bill not be more constitutionally appropriate?

Question 2: Why is there no power to subsequently decrease the maximum limit by regulations in
future once the power has been used? As a result, for example, it would not be possible to
temporarily increase the limit for specific purposes - such as a dedicated Minister for specific
emergencies (e.g. Covid), or large events (e.g. the Commonwealth Games).

Question 3: What consideration was given for the section 5 power to be subject to a procedure
requiring a super-majority of Members to vote in favour?

Section 7 — Job-sharing

Question 4 In your view, would section 7 of the Bill become redundant if a new Welsh Government
published a statement on job-sharing in, for example, the first year of the Seventh Senedd?

Question 5: Why would a new Welsh Government not be obliged to take any steps in relation to the
recommendations of a Committee established under section 77?

Question 6: Why is there no provision in the Bill to require a future Welsh Government to publish and
consult on a draft Bill relating to job-sharing?

Section 19 — review provisions

Question 7: Please can you explain why section 19 requires the establishment of a new committee,
when a committee established at the start of the Seventh Senedd may be better placed to undertake
that work (should it wish to do so)?

Question 8: What factors did you take into account before deciding that the “review must be
completed by the committee no later than twelve months after the first meeting of the Senedd
following the first general election held after 6 April 2026"? Why would a committee not set its own
timetable for post-legislative scrutiny?

Accessibility (including overlap between electoral reform Bills)

Question 9: There is some overlap between this Bill and the Elections and Elected Bodies (Wales) Bill.
For example, both amend the Senedd’s disqualification regime, and both make provision about the
(currently named) Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales.

Pack Page 90

’f’// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.4 | Paper to note 6.4
a. Please can you explain why provisions relating to disqualification are not consolidated in a

single Bill.
b. Please can you explain why provisions related to the (currently named) Local Democracy and
Boundary Commission for Wales are not consolidated in a single Bill.

Question 10: Please can you explain how the forthcoming ‘gender quotas’ Bill is likely to interact with
this Bill, and the extent to which both are interdependent?

Question 11: Section 4 of the Bill provides for the election of an additional Deputy Presiding Officer by
making numerous amendments to section 25 of the Government of Wales Act 2006. The overall effect
of the amendments on the face of the Bill is difficult to discern without reference to the Schedule of
Amendments/Keeling Schedule in the Explanatory Memorandum.

We acknowledge that section 25 of the 2006 Act could not be substituted in its entirety for reasons of
legislative competence. However, please can you explain why the Bill did not substitute the majority of
the text in section 25 for ease of reading, rather than making numerous separate amendments in

section 47

Potential factors impacting implementation by 2026

Question 12: What assessment has the Welsh Government made of the risk of the Bill being referred

to the Supreme Court by the UK Government Attorney General?

Question 13: Please can you explain the consequence of a Supreme Court referral on the ability of the
Senedd to implement the electoral reforms under the Bill in time for the 2026 election.

Question 14: Please can you explain what other factors may impact the Senedd’s ability to implement
the proposed reforms in time for the 2026 election, and how the Welsh Government has mitigated
those risks.

Future legislation

Question 15: Does the Welsh Government have plans for any further electoral reform legislation after
the forthcoming ‘gender quotas’ Bill? If so, would the Counsel General commit to such legislation

being introduced in draft form?

Pack Page 91

’f’// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.5 | Paper to note 6.5
Huw Irranca-Davies

AGENTE TENG.3..

Ein cyf | our ref: HID/
Eich cyf | your ref:

02 November 2023

David Rees
Chair
Reform Bill Committee

Dear David,

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill

Senedd Cymru

Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN

Swyddfa Etholaeth

Uned 2, 112-113 Commercial Street, Maesteg, CF34 9DL

Welsh Parliament

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN

Constituency Office

Unit 2, 112-113 Commercial Street, Maesteg , CF34 9DL

0300 200 7328
huw irranca_davies
@huwsogmore [

/huw4ogmore n

Huw Irranca-Davies MS
Former Chair
Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform

Thank you for your letter dated 16 October 2023. | welcome this opportunity, in my capacity as former

Chair of the Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform, to respond to your questions about its

work.

| enclose my response to your questions with this letter, which | hope you will find useful in your scrutiny

of the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill.

Please let me know if | can be of any further assistance.

Yours sincerely,

/%W-Z;‘W—?MM

—

Member of the Senedd for Ogmore/Aeolod o’'r Senedd dros Ogwr
Welsh Labour and Co-operative/ Llafur Cymru a Chydweithredol

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. / We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English.

f"// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament

Pack Page 92



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.5 | Paper to note 6.5

Response to questions posed in a letter from
the Chair of the Reform Bill Committee on 16
October 2023

Question 1

The Committee’s interpretation of its remit (to consider the conclusions
reached by the Committee on Senedd Electoral Reform and to make
recommendations for policy instructions for a Welsh Government Bill on
Senedd reform), and how that remit shaped the Special Purpose
Committee’s recommendations.

1. In considering the Committee’s interpretation of its remit, it is important to
both consider the task it was set by the Senedd and the voting arrangements
that were applied to its work.

2. Asyou are aware, the task set was to consider the conclusions previously
reached by the Committee on Senedd Electoral Reform in the Fifth Senedd,;
and by 31 May 2022, to make recommendations for policy instructions for a
Welsh Government Bill on Senedd reform.

3. From the outset, the Senedd restricted the Committee to only making
recommendations to the Senedd that carried the support of a supermajority
i.e. a resolution to agree recommendations to the Senedd had to be passed on
a vote in which the committee members voting in favour carried at least 40
votes. Voting on the committee was weighted, with members representing a
political group carrying a vote for each member of the political group to which
they belonged (with the Llywydd not voting, and the Chair only holding a
casting vote if required).

4. Asyou will see from the Committee’s report (see in particular Section 1 Para 1
"Our Establishment"), this requirement to ensure a supermajority of support
shaped the Committee’s recommendations, with some committee members
showing a willingness to compromise at times in the spirit of achieving the
supermajority required.

5. To meet the terms of our remit, we conducted our work in three distinct
phases:

Phase One: we identified where there was common ground between
the policy positions of our respective political parties, in relation to the
Committee on Senedd Electoral Reform'’s conclusions on:

= the Senedd’s size and associated electoral system;

Pack Page 93



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.5 | Paper to note 6.5

= the establishment of ongoing boundary and seat apportionment
review arrangements; and

= |egislative measures to encourage diversity.

Phase Two: based upon these identified areas of common ground, we
gathered further information necessary for us to develop our policy
proposals;

Phase Three: we developed recommendations for policy instructions for
a Welsh Government Bill on Senedd reform.

6. The Welsh Conservatives were represented on the Committee until Darren
Millar MS resigned on 10 May 2022, during our Phase Three discussions.

Question 2

The impact of the joint position statement issued by the First Minister and
the then leader of Plaid Cymru on 10 May 2022, and the letter to the
Special Purpose Committee of the same date, on the Committee’s report,
including any impact on the Committee’s direction of travel, conclusions or
recommendations.

7. Members and their political parties inevitably had a range of views on different
issues related to Senedd Reform, but there was a will on all sides to try to
understand different positions and to identify common ground.

8. The announcement by the Cooperation Agreement parties, and their
subsequent letter to the Committee on 10 May 2022, helped inform the
Committee’s discussions and it was considered with equal weight as other
evidence provided to the Committee. Ultimately, the decisions detailed in our
report were ours to take.

Question 3: The evidence upon which the Special Purpose Committee
based its recommendations, particularly recommendations in respect of:
the specific number of Members (recommendation 2); the use of closed list
proportional representation to elect Members of the Senedd
(recommendation 7); the use of the D'Hondt electoral formula to allocate
seats (recommendation 8); and the proposal that Senedd constituencies
should initially be created by pairing the 32 Westminster constituencies
established by the 2023 UK Parliamentary boundary review
(recommendation 18).

Pack Page 94



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.5 | Paper to note 6.5

9. In taking forward our work, we did not seek to replicate the volume of
evidence previously gathered through public consultation and expert
deliberation gathered by the Committee on Senedd Electoral Reform and the
Expert Panel. Rather, we sought to come forward with a cross-party
proposition on where we go in this Senedd on electoral reform.

10.Nevertheless, we gathered the further information that was necessary for us to
develop our policy proposals and we held a number of private meetings that
were not limited by the Senedd’s Standing Orders, in order to facilitate frank,
open and interactive discussions with a range of stakeholders.

11.We also invited stakeholders that had previously provided information to our
predecessors to provide an update and we utilised this information as a
platform for developing agreement across our respective political parties.

Number of Members (Rec 2)

12.The Committee recommended, among other matters, that the Senedd should
have 96 Members, elected by closed list proportional representation to
represent constituencies based upon the 32 new Westminster constituencies.

13.Since the Expert Panel reported in 2017, there have been major changes to the
political landscape in Wales, particularly because of:

= the significant changes since the original devolution settlement,
including the roles of primary law-making powers and agreeing Welsh
taxes;

= the increased responsibility due to the UK's withdrawal from the EU;

= the awareness of the role of the Senedd in holding the Welsh
Government to account has increased since the pandemic;

* the reduction in the number of Welsh MPs from 40 to 32, and

the loss of Members elected to the European Parliament.

14.We believed that an additional 36 Members would provide greater opportunity
for Members to prepare for scrutiny, to conduct background research and
engage with the people of Wales to better represent their concerns.

15.For these reasons, and as laid out in our report, we came to the conclusion that

a larger chamber than that proposed by the Expert Panel in 2017 is
appropriate, and furthermore that the increase beyond

Pack Page 95



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.5 | Paper to note 6.5

90 members is essential to future-proof the Senedd's capacity to scrutinise the
Welsh Government's increasing powers and responsibilities.

16.0ur decision was a proportionate adjustment in light of the significant changes
that have occurred since the Expert Panel's 2017 report was published, and it
recognises that the Welsh Government makes critical decisions which affect
the lives of millions of people in Wales, and those decisions need to be
effectively scrutinised.

The electoral system (Rec 7)

17.A majority of the Committee, representing a supermajority within the Senedd
as a whole agreed that the first past the post electoral system needed to be
replaced in favour of a proportional system. We noted that this system would
provide a single route to election for all Members and would enable a
proportionate election of Members. Evidence provided to us suggested that a
proportional system would be more compatible with measures to encourage
gender equality.

18.The Committee considered carefully the Expert Panel report and, although we
acknowledged its preferred option was STV, a super-majority within our
Committee ultimately felt that a list proportional system would be more
suitable for Senedd elections.

19.There are pros and cons to both the closed list system and flexible list system.
A majority of committee members, representing the required supermajority,
agreed to recommend a closed list system.

20.This was because ballots used under a closed list proportional system would
already be very familiar to voters (being akin to those currently used to elect
Regional Members) and would facilitate strong, cohesive political parties. It was
also noted that this system would readily integrate with the introduction of
legislative gender quotas, and facilitate parties in putting forward a more
diverse list of candidates on a broader basis.

21.In respect of the electoral system and related matters discussed below, it is
important to note that our report also makes clear where there were minority
positions on issues such as particular types of proportional voting systems and
the calculation of votes, and the use of closed or open lists.

22.Ultimately however, in all these matters and in line with our remit, whilst
recognising and identifying minority positions on aspects of electoral reform
the committee ultimately sought to establish where the common-ground of a
majority position (reflective of a super-majority vote in the Senedd) could be
found.

Pack Page 96



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.5 | Paper to note 6.5

The translation of votes into seats (Rec 8)

23.We looked in some detail at different models for Members to be elected using
the Sainte-Lagué formula (the option preferred by the Expert Panel) and the
D'Hondt formula.

24.Although a minority of Members on our Committee preferred the use of the
Sainte-Lagué formula, a majority which represented a legislative super-majority
within the Senedd, agreed that the D'Hondt formula should be used. It was
noted that this is the formula currently used for allocating regional seats to
parties, and therefore has some familiarity.

Constituency boundaries for the 2026 Senedd election (Rec 18)

25.The Expert Panel considered two models for the boundaries of Senedd
constituencies: the 40 existing Senedd constituencies; and the 22 local
authority areas of Wales.

26.\We considered these models along with a third option of basing them on the
32 Westminster constituencies, which were under review at the time of our
deliberations.

27.Although a minority within our Committee favoured using the 22 local
authority areas to create 17 multi-Member constituencies, the majority did not
on the grounds that the approach would necessarily entail variances in the
district magnitudes of constituencies as a result of size and population
differences.

28.The majority of our Committee favoured using constituencies that were
broadly similar in population, to enable zero variance in the district
magnitudes of different constituencies. This majority considered that it would
be undesirable for some areas of Wales to have less representation than others
(i.e. as some areas would have fewer Members than others).

29.The Expert Panel previously rejected using the (then proposed 29) Westminster
constituencies on the basis that at time of its report, there was “uncertainty
about whether or when the boundary review [would] be implemented”.
However, since the Expert Panel reported, the Parliamentary Constituencies
Act 2020 has received Royal Assent - meaning the uncertainty around whether
the review would be implemented is no longer a factor.

30.A majority of the Committee agreed that there would be value in using the
constituencies that had been recently reviewed, given that a swift process
would be necessary for pairing them. This majority also considered that there
would be value in providing for Senedd constituencies to contain a broadly
equal number of electors, with each electing the same number of Members.

Pack Page 97



RBC(6)-05-23 Papur i'r nodi 6.5 | Paper to note 6.5

31.We therefore recommended that the 2026 election uses the final 32 UK
Parliament constituencies proposed by the Boundary Commission for Wales
following its review, and that these are paired to create 16 new multi-member
constituencies.

Question 4: The way in which the Special Purpose Committee’s
recommendations have been interpreted and reflected in the Welsh
Government's Bill and accompanying Explanatory Memorandum.

32.1 am pleased to see that many of the Committee’'s recommendations have
been reflected in the Bill.

33.In making our recommendations, we understood that there would inevitably
need to be drafting decisions taken by the Welsh Government as it translated
some of our recommendations into workable legislation. For example, the
detail of the drafting around the provisions relating to the filling of vacant
seats.

34.There are provisions in the Bill that do not relate to the work of the Committee.
For example, provision for the disqualification of candidates and Members on
the grounds of residency.

35.Some of our recommendations simply invited further work to be undertaken
by the Welsh Government and/or the Business Committee prior to the
legislation being drafted.

36.The Business Committee's response to the conclusions of our report should be
considered in conjunction with our report, when considering the basis for
corresponding provisions.

37.There are certain recommendations which are not reflected in this Bill, such as
those relating to gender equality. We will need to await the second Senedd
Reform Bill, that is to provide for balanced gender representation, before
assessing how this aspect of the Committee’s work has been reflected in draft
legislation.

Pack Page 98



	Agenda
	2 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Evidence session with electoral systems academics
	Paper 2 Written evidence: Dr Jac Larner
	Introduction
	Increasing the size of the Senedd to 96 members
	Change to the Senedd's Electoral system
	References

	Research Brief

	3 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Evidence session with electoral reform organisations
	4 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Evidence session on the electoral and boundary reform experience in Scotland
	Paper 5 Written evidence: Electoral Management Board for Scotland

	5 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Evidence session with the Welsh Language Commissioner
	Research Brief

	6.1 Response from the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution regarding the anticipated gender quotas Bill  - 20 October 2023
	6.2 Letter to the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution regarding the anticipated gender quotas Bill – 25 October 2023
	6.3 Response from the Deputy Minister for Social Partnership  regarding the anticipated gender quotas Bill  - 1 November 2023
	6.4 Letter from the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee to the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution regarding the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill - 31 October 2023
	6.5 Response from the former Chair of the Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform - 2 November 2023
	Response to questions posed in a letter from the Chair of the Reform Bill Committee on 16 October 2023
	Number of Members (Rec 2)
	The electoral system (Rec 7)
	The translation of votes into seats (Rec 8)
	Constituency boundaries for the 2026 Senedd election (Rec 18)

	Question 1
	Question 2




